THE PREOPERATIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE AS A PREDICTOR OF HEPARIN-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA AFTER CARDIOPULMONARY BYPASS SURGERY

UTILIZING THE PREOPERATIVE PF4-DEPENDENT IMMUNE RESPONSE TO PREDICT ANTI-PF4/HEPARIN ANTIBODY PRODUCTION IN A COHORT OF PATIENTS UNDERGOING CARDIOPULMONARY BYPASS SURGERY

By PHILLIP STAIBANO, B.Sc. (Hon.)

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Phillip Staibano, August 2016

McMaster University (Medical Sciences)

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2016)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Utilizing the preoperative PF4-dependent immune response to predict anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in a cohort of patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. AUTHOR: Phillip Staibano, B.Sc. (Hon.) (McMaster University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. Ishac Nazi SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE: Dr. Donald M. Arnold, Dr. Dawn M.E. Bowdish NUMBER OF PAGES: xvi, 89

ABSTRACT

Background: Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) is an iatrogenic immune-mediated prothrombotic disorder that is a direct consequence of heparin therapy. In HIT, antibodies are generated against complexes of platelet factor-4 (PF4) and heparin. Immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies bind to PF4/heparin complexes and cause Fc-receptor-mediated activation of platelets and monocytes. PF4 binds endogenous heparin-like polyanions to reveal cross-reactive epitopes that can also bind anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. Based on this observation, researchers have suggested that exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes can sensitize immune cells to become activated to produce HIT antibodies following iatrogenic heparin exposure. *Research objective:* The objective of this study is to determine whether the preoperative PF4-dependent immune response is associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in a cohort of patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. Materials and methods: To assess the preoperative immune response to PF4, we utilized two assays: (1) a ³H-thymidine uptake assay to measure peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) proliferation in response to in vitro stimulation with PF4 and (2) a PBMC ELISPOT assay to measure the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific antibody-secreting cells. Proliferation was quantified as a stimulation index (SI). We then utilized a PF4/heparin-dependent enzyme immunoassay to measure the in vivo levels of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies produced by these patients in the postoperative period. Results: Our findings suggest that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin antibody production [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.02 (-0.32, 0.28), P = 0.91]. PF4-dependent proliferation had a weak negative association with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.31 (-0.56, -0.02), P = 0.04], but was not associated with postoperative IgM or IgA anti-PF4/heparin antibody production [IgM:

Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.04 (-0.33, 0.26), P = 0.78; IgA: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.05 (-(0.34, 0.25), P = (0.73). Qualitative analysis demonstrated that two patients who had the strongest preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation responses produced the highest postoperative levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies, but this relationship was not observed with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies. Moreover, the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific antibodysecreting cells (ASCs) was also not associated with postoperative levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM or IgA antibodies [IgM: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = 0.30 (-0.79, 0.93), P = 0.683; IgG: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.21 (-0.92, 0.83), P = 0.600]; however, this was only completed on five patients and so the sample size should be increased before any meaningful conclusions can be drawn. We also demonstrated that PF4-dependent proliferation increases 5-6 days following cardiopulmonary bypass surgery [geometric mean (GM) postoperative PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) vs. GM preoperative PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) \pm SEM: 23.7 \pm 1.3 vs. 6.9 \pm 1.5, P = 0.009]. *Conclusions:* Based on our findings, we conclude that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is unable to predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in this cohort of cardiopulmonary bypass patients. Due to the small sample size, we are unable to make conclusive statements regarding the relationship between preoperative PF4-specific ASC frequency and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, but our findings would suggest that an association does not exist between these two variables in this patient cohort. Cardiopulmonary bypass surgery, however, may mobilize the postoperative immune cell repertoire to become activated against the self-protein PF4 and may therefore contribute to the postoperative HIT immune response.

ACKOWLEDGMENTS

The majority of the work described in this report was completed at the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory, which is located at McMaster University in Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. The technical aspects of this research were completed with the help and guidance of the members of the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory including Jane Moore, James Smith, Sheila Baker, Jo-Ann Sheppard, Hina Bhakta, Peter Horsewood, and Diane Moffatt. I am grateful to all of these individuals as they were integral in teaching me the basics of laboratory research and training me on various immunological assays. In particular, I am grateful to both Jane Moore and Sheila Baker who assisted me with various facets of the data collection phase of this project. I would also like to thank the graduate students of this laboratory—both past and present—including Nikola Ivetic, Nadia Karim, John Verbinsky, and Angela Hyunh for their support and friendship during my time as a graduate student.

One member of the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory who has been invaluable to my progression from an undergraduate student with no laboratory experience to a graduate student who has a newfound respect for biomedical research is Rumi Clare. Rumi Clare has been a wonderful mentor, colleague, and friend throughout my time in this laboratory. He is a patient and knowledgeable teacher who has taught me the fundamentals of tissue culture, immunological assays, the skills required to consent and interact with patients, and how important open discussion of ideas is for the advancement of science. I will always cherish this friendship and all the skills that he has taught me for my future career as a clinician and a researcher.

One important aspect of this project was the recruitment of cardiac surgery patients from the preoperative clinic at the McMaster University Medical Centre. First, I would like to thank all of the nurses, pharmacists, and physicians in the preoperative clinic for their guidance during my

vi

time consenting patients into this study. I would also like to thank the patients and families who I had the pleasure of speaking to and who listened attentively when I was describing this research project. Next, I would like to thank Dr. Richard Whitlock, Dr. John Lee, and Dr. Dominic Parry of the Division of Cardiac Surgery at the Hamilton General Hospital for allowing me to approach and speak to their patients. In addition to preoperative samples, another important aspect of this project was the collection of postoperative blood samples from in-patients at the Hamilton General Hospital. To accomplish this goal, I required help from the nursing team at the cardiac ward and intensive care units. Nurses in both of these wards were always very helpful when I required samples to be collected from cardiac patients in the postoperative period. I also would like to thank Alicia Kokoszka, Thais Creary, and Troy Campbell of Dr. Whitlock's research team who assisted me with collecting these samples and answering questions about the recruitment and sample collection process. Lastly, I would like to thank the members of the core laboratory at both McMaster University Medical Centre and the Hamilton General Hospital for assisting with sample collection and sample transportation between hospitals.

Some technical aspects of this project were performed with help from the Larché Laboratory at McMaster University. I would like to thank Dr. Mark Larché for allowing me to use his laboratory space, equipment, and reagents to perform these assays. I am also grateful towards Lesley Wiltshire and Cheryl Kipling for their help in using this equipment and in assisting me with troubleshooting though any technical issues that arose during my time collecting data.

I would like to thank both Dr. Ishac Nazi and Dr. Donald Arnold for being wonderful and patient mentors and supervisors during my time as a graduate student in their laboratory. First, I would like to thank them for giving me the opportunity to complete this Master's project under their guidance and teaching me the fundamentals of laboratory research, study coordination, and the importance of translational research. I would also like to thank them both for allowing me to assist with other research projects and giving me the opportunity to improve my scientific writing skills for my future career. Next, I would also like to thank my other committee member Dr. Dawn Bowdish for providing invaluable insight that helped me in this research project and the review article that I have been writing over the previous two years. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. John Kelton for his insight during laboratory meetings regarding my project and how to thrive as a clinician-researcher. The accomplishments of Dr. John Kelton have served, and will continue to serve, as a source of inspiration as I begin my studies in medicine and progress towards a future as a clinician and translational medicine researcher.

I would also like to thank my parents, Mariella and Joseph Staibano, for supporting me throughout this process and for being there to help me collect hospital samples at odd times of the day. My parents are a continual source of inspiration and I hope that I can always supply you with the pride that you deserve for helping me throughout my childhood and time in academia.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 THE ROLE OF PLATELETS IN HEMOSTASIS AND THROMBOCYTOPENIA

1.2 DRUG-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA

1.3 HEPARIN-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA (HIT)

- 1.3.1 The pathophysiology of HIT
- 1.3.2 Clinical hallmarks of HIT
- 1.3.3 Laboratory diagnosis of HIT
- 1.3.4 Treatment of HIT
- 1.3.5 Immunological characteristics of HIT
- 1.3.6 Immunobiology of HIT

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 PROJECT RATIONALE

- 2.1.1 The challenges associated with diagnosing HIT
- 2.1.2 Patient populations at risk of developing HIT
- 2.1.3 Utilizing pre-heparin immunity to predict HIT

2.2 RESEARCH HYPOTHESIS

2.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 PATIENT RECRUITMENT, DATA EXTRACTION, AND CLINICAL DEFINITIONS

3.2 PURIFICATION OF HUMAN PLATELET-DERIVED PLATELET FACTOR-4

3.3 PERIPHERAL BLOOD MONONUCLEAR CELL ISOLATION

3.4 ³H-THYMIDINE UPTAKE ASSAY

3.5 PF4-SPECIFIC ELISPOT

3.6 POLYSPECIFIC PF4/POLYANION-DEPENDENT ENZYME IMMUNOASSAY

3.7 CLASS-SPECIFIC PF4/HEPARIN-DEPENDENT ENZYME IMMUNOASSAY

3.8 PROTEINASE K DIGESTION OF PLATELET FACTOR-4

3.9 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

17

27

31

4.0 RESULTS

4.1. VALIDATION OF THE PF4-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION ASSAY

- 4.1.1. Platelet factor 4 (PF4) is required to induce proliferation.
- 4.1.2. Heparin modifies PF4-dependent proliferation.
- 4.1.2. In comparison to PF4, protamine sulfate does not elicit proliferation.

4.2. MEASURING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PREOPERATIVE PROLIFERATION AND POSTOPERATIVE ANTI-PF4/HEPARIN ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

- 4.2.1. Baseline demographic and surgical characteristics of the patient cohort
- 4.2.2. Rates of preoperative and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production
- 4.2.3. Levels of preoperative proliferation in the patient cohort

4.2.4. Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibodies

4.3. ASSESSING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN A HISTORY OF HEPARIN EXPOSURE AND MAJOR SURGERY AND PREOPERATIVE PF4-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION

- 4.3.1. History of heparin exposure and preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation
- 4.3.1. History of major surgery and preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation

4.4 MEASURING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PREOPERATIVE FREQUENCY OF PF4-SPECIFIC ANTIBODY-SECRETING CELLS AND POSTOPERATIVE ANTI-PF4/HEPARIN ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

4.5 THE EFFECT OF CARDIOPULMONARY BYPASS SURGERY ON PF4-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION

5.0 DISCUSSION	46
6.0 STUDY LIMITATIONS	57
7.0 CONCLUSIONS	59
8.0 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	60
9.0 FIGURES	62
10.0 TABLES	73
11.0 REFERENCES	80

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: HIT may be generated by both T cell-dependent and T cell-independent mechanisms.

Figure 2: Non-digested PF4 is required to induce PBMC proliferation.

Figure 3: PF4-dependent proliferation is modified by the addition of heparin.

Figure 4: PF4-dependent and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation in preoperative cardiopulmonary bypass surgery patients.

Figure 5. PF4-dependent is associated with PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation before cardiopulmonary bypass surgery.

Figure 6A–D. Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production.

Figure 7A–D. Individual patient analysis of the relationship between preoperative PF4dependent proliferation and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production.

Figure 8A–D. Individual patient analysis of the relationship between preoperative and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels.

Figure 9. Preoperative frequency of PF4-specific ASCs and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production.

Figure 10. PF4-dependent proliferation increases after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Baseline demographic and surgical characteristics of patient cohort.

Table 2. The proportion of patients who had positive anti-PF4/heparin antibodies before and after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery.

Table 3. The level of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies before and after cardiopulmonary bypasssurgery.

Table 4. History of heparin exposure and preoperative PF4-dependent assays.

Table 5. The proportion of patients who have had a previous surgical procedure.

Table 6. History of surgical trauma and preoperative PF4-dependent assays.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACD	Acid citrate dextrose
ASC	Antibody-secreting cell
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid assay
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3'-indoylphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
СРВ	Cardiopulmonary bypass
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CI	Confidence Interval
СРМ	Counts per minute
EdU	5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked Immunospot Assay
EU	Endotoxin units
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
GM	Geometric mean
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HiREB	Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board
LAL	Limulus Amebocyte Lysate
LMWH	Low-molecular weight heparin
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex

OD_{40}	Optical density
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
pNPP	p-nitrophenylphosphate
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PHR	Protein-to-heparin ratio
R848	Resiquimod
SDS	Sodium dodecyl-sulfate
SI	Stimulation index
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
UFH	Unfractionated heparin
UV	Ultraviolet

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

This study is the first known usage of clinical populations to investigate the effect of the immune response prior to heparin exposure on susceptibility towards developing heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). To address this research objective, we were required to consent cardiopulmonary bypass surgery patients prior to surgery for a preoperative and postoperative blood draw. Patient consenting and sample collection were completed by Phillip Staibano with the help of nurses at both McMaster University Medical Centre and the Hamilton General Hospital. In order to study the preoperative immune response, we employed two immunological assays: a PF4-dependent ³H-thymidine uptake assay and a PF4-specific ELISPOT assay. For the patients recruited into this study, both assays were completed by Phillip Staibano. Rumi Clare and Ishac Nazi optimized both immune assays and manuscripts that address results from both assays are currently being drafted. Due to the heterogeneous nature of the clinical population utilized in this study, we also performed a retrospective chart review to characterize the demographic characteristics and gather more information about the medical histories of each of patients recruited into the study. Phillip Staibano submitted the HiREB study protocol for this objective and completed the chart review for each patient recruited into this study. To analyze postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, we utilized a PF4/heparin-dependent enzyme immunoassay, which was developed by the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory and is currently utilized for diagnostic HIT testing. Although Phillip Staibano was trained on how to perform these assays, for this study, the majority of these assays were performed by Jane Moore and Sheila Baker of the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory. All statistical analyses were completed by Phillip Staibano. The thesis was written and edited by Phillip Staibano.

Based on the results collected, we conclude that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Preliminary results also suggest that preoperative PF4-specific ASC frequency cannot predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production within this cohort of cardiopulmonary bypass patients. These results suggest that neither of these assays can predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, but future studies should look into other preoperative immune markers. We also demonstrated that PF4-dependent proliferation is increased 5–6 days after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery compared to before surgery. These findings suggest that after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery patients possess immune cells that are more responsive to PF4, which may contribute to the immune response that leads to HIT.

1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 THE ROLE OF PLATELETS IN HEMOSTASIS AND THROMBOCYTOPENIA

Platelets are critical for protection against exsanguination (Yeaman 2014). They are small discoid cells that do not possess a nucleus and play a direct role in coagulation and thrombus formation (Ghoshal and Bhattacharyya 2014). Platelets are generated in the bone marrow and secreted into the periphery by multinucleated progenitor cells, known as megakaryocytes (Patel, *et al* 2005). Resting platelets contain intracellular granules containing procoagulant factors that induce blood clotting when they become activated (Golebiewska and Poole 2015). Activated platelets interact with collagen and von Willebrand factor on the vascular endothelium to promote platelet aggregation and thrombin generation. Thrombin is required for the production of fibrin, which is required to stabilize blood clots. Although platelets are central to hemostasis, recent studies have highlighted that these cells are versatile in function and can also contribute to inflammation, microbial clearance, and autoimmunity (Rondina and Garraud 2014).

Disorders of platelet function can lead to major bleeding complications such as intracranial hemorrhage (Konkle 2011). Thrombocytopenia, which is defined as a deficiency in the number of platelets within circulation, can lead to tissue bleeding, easy bruising, and delayed blood clot formation. Secondary thrombocytopenia can result from a variety of acquired factors including viral infection, myeloproliferative disorders, autoimmunity, or pharmaceutical therapy (Bussel 2009). According to current laboratory medicine guidelines, a normal circulating platelet count is $150-450 \times 10^9$ cells/L (Sekhon and Roy 2006). Mild thrombocytopenia, or a platelet count $<150 \times 10^9$ cells/L, is transient, asymptomatic, and does not require treatment. Severe thrombocytopenia, or a platelet count of $\leq 10-20 \times 10^9$ cells/L, can lead to life-threatening bleeding complications and may require emergency platelet transfusions. Thrombocytopenia is a well-

studied occurrence in critically ill patients, but estimations of frequency in this population are highly variable (Hui, *et al* 2011). Hospitalized patients exhibit an increased likelihood towards developing thrombocytopenia due to their underlying illnesses and/or multiple drug exposures. (Sajwani and Al Tunaiji 2014).

1.2 DRUG-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA

Drug-induced thrombocytopenia (DITP) occurs when drugs lead to a decrease in platelet count (Arnold, et al 2013). The clinical course of DITP begins within 5-10 days of initial drug exposure and the observed thrombocytopenia has been shown to occur as a result of accelerated platelet clearance or suppressed megakaryocyte function (Aster, et al 2009). The incidence of DITP is about 10 persons per million, but this estimate may be higher in elderly or hospitalized patients (van den Bemt, et al 2004). Many pathophysiological mechanisms have been shown to cause DITP, including the production of drug-dependent autoantibodies that mediate platelet clearance via the reticuloendothelial system (Curtis 2014). Drugs that can trigger DITP (e.g. sulfonamides, chemotherapy drugs, and antibiotics) alter the conformation of platelet surface proteins to reveal neoepitopes that bind anti-platelet autoantibodies and induce Fc-receptor (FcR)mediated platelet destruction by phagocytes. The existence of these drug-dependent autoantibodies is typically transient as they disappear from circulation within 1–2 days of drug cessation. Delayed identification of DITP increases the likelihood of developing potentially fatal bleeding complications (Aster and Bougie 2007). Anticoagulant therapy with heparin can lead to the most common immune-mediated DITP, known as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) (Franchini 2005).

1.3 HEPARIN-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA

HIT is a prothrombotic disorder that is initiated by an adverse immune reaction to heparin

(Chong 2003). Heparin is a naturally occurring polysaccharide that is administered to prevent and treat thrombosis. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) (which will be referred to from this point forward as heparin) is a heterogeneous solution of glycosaminoglycans (GAG) of varying molecular weights and degrees of sulfonation (Baglin, *et al* 2006). Heparin remains a widely utilized anticoagulant because of its short half-life, economic feasibility, and ability to be easily neutralized by reversal agents (Kelton and Warkentin 2008). Current estimates suggest that 0.1%–4% of patients administered heparin develop HIT (Seigerman, *et al* 2014).

1.3.1 The pathophysiology of HIT

HIT is diagnosed in critically ill populations, as these patients are typically undergoing anticoagulant therapy (Warkentin 2011a). In addition, patients undergoing major cardiac and orthopedic surgery administered heparin are also at a high risk of developing HIT (Warkentin, et al 2000). High levels of platelet activation are associated with major surgical intervention (Oberweis, et al 2014, Rinder, et al 1991). Platelets contain an abundance of platelet factor-4 (PF4, also known CXCL4) within intracellular granules (Zucker and Katz 1991). PF4 is a 7.8 kDa cationic protein that is secreted from activated platelets as a tetramer bound to a proteoglycan carrier molecule (Huang, et al 1982). When free in circulation, PF4 binds to highly sulfated GAGs expressed on endothelial cells within the vasculature (Cella, et al 1987). PF4, however, has a higher affinity for binding exogenous heparin (Mayo, et al 1995). Because of this tendency to interact, parenteral heparin administration leads to the formation of circulating multimolecular PF4/heparin complexes (Rauova, et al 2005). When heparin binds to PF4, conformational changes occur on the PF4 tetramer to reveal neoepitopes (Litvinov, et al 2013). In HIT, immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies bind these neoepitopes on PF4/heparin (Kelton, et al 1994) to form immune complexes (Rauova, et al 2005). These immune complexes crosslink FcyRIIa on platelets and FcyRIa on monocytes to induce Fc-receptor-mediated activation (Warkentin, *et al* 1994). The onset of thrombocytopenia in HIT is primarily a result of widespread antibody-mediated platelet activation, but also enhanced platelet clearance via the reticuloendothelial system (Warkentin, *et al* 2008). HIT is also associated with a thirty-fold increase in the risk of thrombosis (Arepally and Ortel 2006), which occurs when activated platelets and monocytes release procoagulant factors and generate tissue factor to induce thrombin generation and the induction of a hypercoagulable state (Hughes, *et al* 2000).

1.3.2 Clinical hallmarks of HIT

Thrombocytopenia can result from a multitude of clinical factors including illness, drug interactions, or surgical trauma in hospitalized patients (Arnold and Lim 2011). Platelet counts often decrease to a nadir days following surgery (Greinacher and Selleng 2010). Approximately 56% of patients who underwent cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) surgery experienced a decrease in platelet count by postoperative day 10 (Selleng, et al 2010c). An estimated 1% of CPB surgery and 4.9% of major orthopedic surgery patients develop HIT following perioperative exposure to heparin (Warkentin, et al 2000). The clinical risk factors associated with HIT include: the type of heparin administered [i.e. heparin is more likely to cause HIT than low molecular weight heparin (LMWH)] (Martel, et al 2005), the type of clinical population (LaMuraglia, et al 2012), the severity of tissue trauma (Lubenow, et al 2010), the duration of heparin exposure (Warkentin and Eikelboom 2007), and the level of pathogenic anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies (Nazi, et al 2015b). Genetic factors such as polymorphisms of the platelet-expressed Fc-receptor are also associated with an increased susceptibility towards developing HIT-associated thrombosis (Rollin, et al 2015). Taken together, these risk factors demonstrate that susceptibility to HIT differs based on clinical and patient-specific genetic factors.

HIT is a "clinical-pathological" disorder as diagnosis depends on concordance between laboratory and clinical assessments (Dutt and Schulz 2013). Early diagnosis is also critical for treating HIT as delays are associated with a 5-10% daily risk of HIT-associated thrombosis, amputation, and death (Greinacher, et al 2000). To assist in the clinical diagnosis of HIT, a pretest scoring system known as the 4Ts has been developed for clinicians (Lo, et al 2006). The 4Ts system utilizes the four clinical hallmarks of HIT: (1) severity of thrombocytopenia (i.e. \geq 50% decrease in platelet count from baseline); (2) the timing of thrombocytopenia (i.e. occurring 5–10 days from the initiation of heparin therapy); (3) the development of thrombosis or other HIT sequelae such as deep vein thrombosis, limb gangrene, or pulmonary embolism; and (4) the probability that other causes are responsible for the thrombocytopenia, since postoperative patients can develop thrombocytopenia as a result of many other factors. The 4Ts system yields an integer score from 0-8, where 0-3, 4-5, and 6-8 are associated with a low, medium, and high pretest probability for HIT. A systematic review of the clinical efficacy of the 4Ts scoring system demonstrates that a low pretest probability is associated with a high negative predictive probability (0.998), but medium and high pretest probabilities are associated with low positive predictive values (0.14 and 0.64, respectively) (Cuker, et al 2012). Based on these findings, a low pretest probability can reliably rule out a diagnosis of HIT, but medium-to-high pretest probabilities require further evaluation to rule-in a diagnosis of HIT. Clinical evaluation alone is an inaccurate diagnostic practice as clinical decisions can vary even amongst experienced clinicians (Cuker, et al 2010). These authors demonstrate that HIT clinical scoring models are associated with variability between clinicians and a lack of agreement with laboratory testing for HIT.

1.3.3 Laboratory diagnosis of HIT

In conjunction with clinical evaluation, HIT is also tested using laboratory assays. To detect

antibodies that are specific for PF4/heparin, antigenic assays [such as PF4/heparin-dependent enzyme immunoassays (EIA)] are employed by clinical laboratories around the world (Eichler, et al 2002). After CPB surgery, up to 70% of patients produce anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in the postoperative period, but a small fraction of these patients develop HIT (Warkentin, et al 2013). Antigenic HIT assays, therefore, exhibit a low diagnostic specificity and lead to a high rate of false-positive diagnoses (McFarland, et al 2012). The consequences for an incorrect diagnosis of HIT are severe, as these patients are withdrawn from heparin therapy, which increases the likelihood of thrombotic complications (Marler, et al 2015). To alleviate the risk of thrombosis, these patients are administered costly alternative anticoagulants, which are associated with a risk of bleeding complications. In addition to antigenic assays, functional HIT assays such as the serotonin-release assay (SRA) are employed to determine the ability for anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies to activate platelets (Warkentin, et al 2015). The SRA has a high diagnostic specificity (~96%) and can rule in a HIT diagnosis, but is technically demanding and limited in its availability due to the requirement for donor platelets and radioactive isotopes. Functional assays serve as a reliable proxy for HIT as they are able to measure the ability for anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies to cause platelet activation (Leo and Winteroll 2003). Discrepancies in the availability and diagnostic capabilities of these laboratory assays continue to pose challenges for HIT diagnosis (Nazi, *et al* 2015a).

1.3.4 Treatment of HIT

Treatment for HIT requires the immediate withdrawal of the patient from heparin therapy (Ahmed, *et al* 2007). Discontinuation of heparin therapy alone, however, does not eliminate the risk of thrombosis as these patients continue to possess a 25–50% of developing blood clots (Wallis, *et al* 1999). In addition to heparin withdrawal, HIT patients are prescribed alternative

anticoagulants such as direct thrombin inhibitors or fondaparinux, which have been shown to be effective in preventing blood clots in patients diagnosed with HIT (Lee and Ansell 2011). Furthermore, a single case study has also demonstrated that B cell-depletion therapy using rituximab can be used to suppress anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in HIT (Schell, *et al* 2013).

1.3.5 Immunological characteristics of HIT

HIT is characterized by an atypical immunological profile that is inconsistent with our understanding of classic antibody responses (Potschke, et al 2012). Primary heparin exposure leads to the simultaneous production of anti-PF4/heparin IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies as IgM precedence does not occur in HIT (Warkentin, et al 2009). This is inconsistent with our understanding of classical immune responses, as typical primary antibody responses are characterized by the production of IgM antibodies with primary antigen exposure and the rapid production of IgG antibodies with secondary antigen exposure (Cunningham, et al 2014). Additionally, anti-PF4/heparin antibody formation in HIT begins as early as four days after the start of heparin therapy and also precedes the onset of thrombocytopenia (Greinacher, et al 2009). The antigenicity of PF4/heparin is characterized by the maximization of antibody binding at equimolar ratios of heparin and PF4, which form charge-neutralized complexes with a molecular weight >670 kDa (Rauova, et al 2005). LMWH, in contrast to heparin, forms smaller complexes with PF4, which are less likely to induce anti-PF4/heparin antibody binding and cause HIT (Greinacher, et al 2008). HIT is also characterized by the production of two types of anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies: (1) antibodies that can cause Fc-receptor-mediated platelet activation and (2) antibodies that cannot cause Fc-receptor-mediated platelet activation (Nazi, et al 2015b). A recent study has shown that antibody pathogenicity may be a result of binding to epitopes expressed on PF4 tetramers bound to GAGs (Cai, *et al* 2015). HIT antibodies do not remain for long periods of time within circulation, as non-pathogenic antibodies become undetectable a median of 85 days and pathogenic antibodies become undetectable a median of 50 days from the onset of HIT (Potschke, *et al* 2012, Warkentin and Kelton 2001). Furthermore, repeat heparin exposure after antibody levels have waned in a patient who has been diagnosed with HIT does not lead to a secondary anti-PF4/heparin antibody response or increase the likelihood of recurrences of HIT (Warkentin and Sheppard 2014). A study into the role of memory B cells in HIT has shown that only 6.7% of cardiac surgery patients who produced anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies had PF4/heparin-specific memory B cells in the postoperative period compared to 50% of patients who had memory B cells specific for tetanus toxoid (Selleng, *et al* 2010a). In summary, HIT is characterized by atypical immune features that remain poorly understood in the literature.

1.3.6 Immunobiology of HIT

Greinacher and colleagues proposed that immunological exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes that resemble PF4/heparin can elicit the generation of anti-PF4/polyanion antibodies (Krauel, *et al* 2011). PF4 can bind to other negatively charged molecules such as lipopolysaccharide (Krauel, *et al* 2012) and nucleic acids (Jaax, *et al* 2013) to reveal epitopes that cross-react with anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. PF4 bound to GAGs on endothelial cells, monocytes, and platelets can also bind anti-PF4/heparin antibodies (Rauova, *et al* 2006). Bacterial infection in the absence of heparin exposure is also associated with the production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies (Greinacher, *et al* 2011). Moreover, studies have demonstrated that HIT can occur in the absence of any heparin exposure, further suggesting that other non-heparin polyanions can alter PF4 to potentiate its immunogenicity and ability to cause HIT (Warkentin, *et al* 2014). Taken together, these studies suggest that exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes leads to a primary anti-

PF4/heparin antibody response and subsequent exposure to heparin may elicit the rapid production of anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies that lead to HIT (Krauel, *et al* 2011).

The role of T cells in HIT immunobiology remains controversial. Severe HIT patients possess T cells with highly restricted T cell receptors specific for PF4/heparin (Bacsi, et al 1999). Furthermore, both athymic and chimeric mice that lack mature T cells are unable to produce anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies (Suvarna, et al 2005, Zheng, et al 2015). In contrast, murine marginal zone B cells-which can respond to antigens independently of help from T cells-are also required for anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production (Zheng, et al 2013). Other innate-like B cells, known as B-1 cells, are also critical for the production of anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies, which suggest that innate immune mechanisms may contribute to HIT (Krauel, et al 2016). Furthermore, patients who underwent liver transplantation surgery can produce anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies that activate platelets despite pharmaceutical suppression of T cell function (Bakchoul, et al 2014). PF4/heparin has also been shown to induce immune activation via engagement of the pattern recognition receptor, toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Prechel and Walenga 2015). B cell-depletion therapy has also been used as an effective adjunctive therapy for HIT (Schell, et al 2013). Dysfunction of immune regulatory mechanisms may also contribute to the onset of HIT (Liu, et al 2005), as polyclonal stimulation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and a deficiency of tolerance mechanisms in mice induce the spontaneous generation of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies (Zheng, et al 2014). Figure 1 shows a hypothesized biological model that suggests both T cell-dependent and T cell-independent mechanisms contribute to HIT immunobiology.

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 PROJECT RATIONALE

2.1.1 The challenges of diagnosing HIT

The difficulties associated with the laboratory diagnosis of HIT have led to a burden of HIT over-diagnosis in patients who are exposed to heparin (Cuker 2011). Clinical centres utilize antigenic assays to diagnose HIT, but exclusive employment of these assays is associated with a high rate of false-positive results, which can lead to costly and unnecessary interventions (Watson, *et al* 2012). Researchers are to develop new functional assays that do not carry the technical limitations associated with the SRA to diagnose HIT (Padmanabhan, *et al* 2015). In addition to diagnosing HIT after heparin exposure, another method of identification may be in the screening of patients prior to heparin administration for biomarkers that can predict anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, as this can alter the treatment plan prior to heparin administration.

2.1.2 Patient populations at-risk for developing heparin-induced thrombocytopenia

Surgical patients—especially patients undergoing cardiac and orthopedic surgery—have the highest risk of developing HIT (Seigerman, *et al* 2014). In particular, 25%–70% of patients undergoing CPB surgery produce non-pathogenic anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in the postoperative period (Matthai and Cines 2004, Warkentin, *et al* 2013). Extracorporeal circulation, which is used during CPB surgery induces severe inflammation that can resemble the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (Levy and Tanaka 2003). As blood undergoes high shear rates and interacts with the artificial membrane of extracorporeal circulation, both platelets and leukocytes undergo changes in morphology and function (Cella, *et al* 1981, Nguyen, *et al* 1992). CPB surgery can also lead to a dramatic increases in the concentration of circulating PF4 (Cella, *et al* 1981). To reduce the risk of blood clotting, CPB surgery patients are also administered heparin in the intraoperative period and either heparin or LMWH in the postoperative period (Riess 2005). In surgical populations, it has been hypothesized that the antibody response against PF4/heparin is generated within the intraoperative period since patients are exposed to high concentrations PF4 and heparin in the midst of an inflammatory state (Warkentin, *et al* 2010). Compared to other clinical population, CPB surgery patients are most likely to generate an antibody response against PF4/heparin in the perioperative period (Warkentin, *et al* 2013); therefore, we decided that this surgical population would be most informative in studying the anti-PF4 immune response before and after exposure to heparin therapy.

2.1.3 Utilizing the immune response prior to heparin exposure to predict HIT onset

Since the first clinical description of HIT (Natelson, *et al* 1969), investigators have investigated its pathophysiology, clinical features, laboratory diagnostics, and immunological characteristics; however, less progress have been made in the understanding of the immunobiology that underlies anti-PF4/heparin antibody generation in HIT. A recent hypothesis into the possible biological underpinnings of HIT antibody production suggests that the likelihood of developing HIT depends on the repertoire of immune cells that exist prior to heparin exposure (Krauel, *et al* 2011). PF4 can undergo conformational changes that permit anti-PF4/heparin antibody crossreactivity when bound to non-heparin polyanions like lipopolysaccharide or GAGs (Prechel and Walenga 2013). Based on this finding, researchers have proposed that exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes in the absence of heparin exposure may "prime" the PF4/heparin-specific immune response to become activated after heparin exposure (Krauel, *et al* 2011). Studies, however, have not evaluated whether the immune response prior to heparin infusion underlies susceptibility to HIT surgical patients. A screening assay that can identify patients prior to heparin exposure who possess an increased risk for developing HIT will help to prevent the devastating complications associated with this iatrogenic disorder.

2.2 RESEARCH HYPOTHESIS

Based on the premise that immunity to PF4/heparin can be "primed" by exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes, we hypothesize that a subset of CPB surgery patients who possess circulating immune cells that response to stimulation with PF4 are more likely to produce anti-PF4/heparin antibodies following intraoperative heparin exposure than patients who do not possess these cells.

As of yet, a biomarker has not been discovered that can predict the onset of HIT prior to heparin exposure. This research serves as the first known attempt to utilize immune assays prior to heparin exposure to predict surgical patients who may be at an increased risk for developing HIT.

2.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

We utilized a prospective cohort study design to investigate the preoperative PF4-specific immune response in CPB surgery patients. We employed two immunological assays to investigate the role of preoperative PF4-specific immunity in HIT susceptibility in surgical patients: (1) ³H- thymidine uptake assay, which measures cellular proliferation in response to exogenous stimuli, and (2) a PBMC ELISPOT, which quantifies the number of antigen-specific antibody-secreting cells (ASC) in circulation. The objectives of the current study are multifold: (1) To determine whether the proliferation of PBMCs to PF4 prior to CPB surgery is associated with anti-PF4/heparin antibody production after surgery; (2) To determine whether a history of heparin exposure or major surgery can identify patients who are more likely to possess PBMCs that proliferate in response to PF4 prior to surgery; (3) To determine whether the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific ASCs is associated with postoperative class-specific anti-PF4/heparin

antibody production; (4) To determine whether patients that have PBMCs that undergo higher levels of PF4-dependent proliferation after CPB surgery compared to before surgery. We also evaluated whether stimulation with PF4/heparin can predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production; however, since our hypothesis addresses the ability for pre-heparin immunity (i.e. PF4 altered by endogenous polyanions) to predict postoperative antibody production, we focused our discussion on PF4 alone. The findings of this study will provide insight into how the preoperative immune response to PF4 may identify patients who are at risk of developing HIT after CPB surgery.

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 PATIENT RECRUITMENT, DATA EXTRACTION, AND CLINICAL DEFINITIONS

Patients recruited into study were scheduled to undergo cardiac surgery at the Hamilton General Hospital in Hamilton, Ontario. Inclusion criteria included patients ≥ 18 years of age who scheduled to undergo major cardiac surgery on CPB. Blood samples were collected before surgery (day 0) and once 4–8 days after surgery. Whole blood collected before surgery (day 0) was drawn into sterile ACD vacutainers and processed within two hours of collection. Serum and plasma samples were drawn once between days 4-8 after surgery, separated, and frozen at -80°C until use. Patients were recruited in conjunction with assistance from the cardiac investigation team at the Hamilton Generation Hospital. The majority of patients included in the study [39 out of 44 patients (89%)] were confirmed to have been administered intraoperative heparin and protamine sulfate for anticoagulation and neutralization, respectively. Overall, fifty-six patients were recruited into the current study, but forty-four patients were included in the final analysis. Two patients (n=2) were excluded because they did not undergo surgery on CPB, one patient (n=1) did not have a preoperative blood sample collected, seven patients (n=7) did not have a postoperative blood sample collected, and two patients (n=2) were excluded because they were on immunosuppressant therapy at the time of recruitment. All protocols and patient materials were approved by the HiREB.

We evaluated the history of prior heparin exposure as "definite" if heparin use was documented in the patient's medical records, as "possible" if there had been at least one previous hospitalization during which treatment with heparin would have been likely, and as "unlikely" if there had been no hospitalization or hospitalizations during which heparin therapy would have been unlikely. We also evaluated previous surgical trauma as "major surgery", which was defined as a documented procedure in which a body cavity was entered, an organ was removed, in-patient period was >4 days, or there was a high likelihood that postoperative prophylactic anticoagulants were administered. All data extraction protocols and materials were approved by the HiREB.

3.2 PURIFICATION OF HUMAN PLATELET-DERIVED PF4

Human platelet-derived PF4 was obtained from pooled platelets, which were lysed and purified according to previously described methods (Levine and Wohl 1976). Pooled plateletderived PF4 was further purified using reverse-phase chromatography on a HPLC fitted with a C4 column. The stationary phase of the C4 column is ideal for separation of proteins with a molecular weight >10 kDa and reverse-phase HPLC using a C4 column can decrease the levels of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from protein samples (Dudley, et al 2003). Purified PF4 was then lyophilized and suspended in sterile 1.5 M sodium chloride buffer. LPS was removed using endotoxin-specific syringe filers until the endotoxin levels were <0.5 EU/mL. A chromogenic LAL endotoxin assay was utilized to quantify the endotoxin levels and a BCA was used to determine the concentration of PF4 protein. The purity of the pooled platelet-derived PF4 was determined using size-dependent SDS-PAGE. We also evaluated the antigenicity of the pooled plateletderived PF4 using an in-house PF4/heparin-dependent IgG-specific EIA. To calculate the stoichiometric ratios of PF4 and heparin we utilized previously published estimates of heparin specific activity at 140 U/mg, a heparin molecular weight of 15 kDa, and a PF4 molecular weight of 31.8 kDa (Chudasama, et al 2010).

3.3 PBMC ISOLATION

PBMCs were isolated from whole blood via density centrifugation using histopaque-1077 (i.e. 400g for 30 minutes). PBMCs were washed once in PBS supplemented with 10% FBS and once in PBS supplemented with 10% FBS with heparin to prevent the aggregation of cells. Our

laboratory has demonstrated that the addition of heparin during this stage does not affect the results of the proliferation assay. Both washes were centrifuged at 370g for 10 minutes. PBMCs were then suspended in serum-free AIM-V cell culture media and counted using a hemocytometer. Serum-free AIM-V cell culture media was used in this study because it has been shown to reduce background and optimize signal in ³H-thymidine proliferation assays (Kaldjian, *et al* 1992).

<u>3.4 ³H-THYMIDINE UPTAKE ASSAY</u>

PBMCs (1x10⁶/mL) were cultured in AIM-V cell culture media with various proteins-ofinterest: (1) human platelet-derived PF4 (50 µg/mL), (2) human platelet-derived PF4 (50 µg/mL) and heparin (0.25 U/mL), and (3) Resignimod (R848) (2.5 µg/mL) and interleukin (IL)-2 (10 ng/mL). R848 and IL-2 were utilized as positive controls because both of these compounds have been shown to be potent activators of cells within the PBMC pool (Jahnmatz, et al 2013). To form PF4/heparin complexes, PF4 and heparin were incubated for 20 minutes in AIM-V cell culture media at room temperature. PBMCs were also cultured in AIM-V cell culture media alone to serve as a negative control. Each condition was plated in six replicates in 96 well sterile tissue culture plates. Plates were incubated for six days at 37°C and 5% CO₂. On day six, each well was pulsed with ³H-thymidine (0.5 μ Ci/well) and incubated for an additional 16 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. PBMCs were then lysed onto glass fibre filter mats using a cell harvester. Filter mats were dried overnight at room temperature and the following day the mats were placed in vacuum-sealed plastic envelopes. To amplify the radioactive signal, β -scintillate was added to each vacuum-sealed envelope. Mats were then placed in a luminescence counter and β -radioactivity from each mat was quantified in counts per minute (CPM). Proliferation was quantified as SI, which was calculated by dividing the average CPM of the protein-of-interest condition by the average CPM of the negative control condition (i.e. media alone).

3.5 PF4-SPECIFIC ELISPOT ASSAY

As described previously, PBMCs were isolated from 30 mL of whole blood collected into sterile ACD vacutainers. PBMCs were then plated at a concentration of $2x10^6$ cells/mL in AIM-V culture media with R848 (2.5 µg/mL) and IL-2 (10 ng/mL) in sterile twenty-four well tissue culture plates. These plates were incubated for six days at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Both published findings (Jahnmatz, et al 2013) and previous experiments completed by our laboratory demonstrated that six days of stimulation optimized B cell activation for the ELISPOT assay. PVDF multiscreen MAIPS4510 plates were hydrated with 70% ethanol and sterile H₂O five days after the PBMC isolation. The hydrated plate was then coated with anti-human IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies and PBS alone. Plates were incubated overnight at 2–3°C. Six days after the PBMC isolation the antibodies were decanted from the plate, washed, and blocked with PBS supplemented with 3% BSA. The plate was then incubated for 2 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. On the same day, stimulated PBMCs were collected and washed three times in AIM-V cell culture media (370g for 10 minutes). Following the 2-hour incubation period, the plate was decanted and washed one time with PBS. Washed PBMCs were then added to the plate at 200,000 cells/well for antigen-specific and total IgA antibody wells and 10,000 cells/well for total IgG and IgM antibody wells. Stimulated PBMCs were then plated in four replicates for each antibody condition. PBMCs were also added to wells coated with PBS alone. AIM-V cell culture media alone was added to antibody-coated wells in duplicates. Plates were then incubated for 19 hours at at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The following day, PBMCs were decanted from the plate and the plate was washed with a solution of PBS supplemented with 0.5% Tween-20. Next, human platelet-derived PF4 and biotinylated human platelet-derived PF4 were diluted to 25 µg/mL and combined in PBS supplemented with 0.5% BSA. Employment of a mixture of platelet-derived and biotinylated PF4 has been shown to reduce

the number of background spots in an ELISPOT assay (Schulze, et al 2014). Two conditions were then prepared: (1) PF4 alone, which does not contain heparin and (2) PF4/heparin, which contains 20 U/mL heparin combined with 25 µg/mL of the PF4 solution. This ratio of PF4-to-heparin corresponds to those used in the PF4/heparin-dependent EIA. Moreover, biotinylated IgG, IgM, and IgA were combined with PBS supplemented with 0.5% BSA and filtered through 0.2 μ m syringe filters. The two PF4 solutions and three biotinylated antibody solutions were then added to the plate. Once added, the plate was incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. After the 2-hour incubation, the plate was washed with PBS supplemented with 0.5% Tween-20. Next, streptavidin conjugated to alkaline phosphatase was added to the plate and incubated for in the dark one hour at room temperature. After the incubation period, the plate is washed and the substrate, BCIP was added to the plate. The plate was incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature and washed multiple times with distilled H₂O. The plate was then allowed to air dry overnight at room temperature. The number and size of spots were then quantified using the BioSys Bioreader 6000. The frequency of antigen-specific B cells was calculated first by subtracting the number of spots in the no coat wells from the number of spots in the antigen-specific wells. Next, we divided the mean number of antigen-specific spots by the mean number of corresponding class-specific antibody spots and multiplied by 1000.

3.6 POLYSPECIFIC PF4/POLYANION-DEPENDENT EIA

Utilized to detect *in vivo* antibodies capable of binding to PF4 bound to anions such as polyvinyl sulfate. Assays were performed according to manufacturer's guidelines (GTI, Waukesha, WI). For the detection of anti-PF4/polyanion polyspecific antibodies, a positive result was classified by an $OD_{405} \ge 0.40$ and a negative result was classified as <0.40. Standard positive and negative controls were included on each plate.

<u>3.7 ISOTYPE-SPECIFIC PF4/HEPARIN-DEPENDENT EIA</u>

In vivo class-specific anti-PF4/heparin antibodies were measured with a PF4/heparindependent EIA specific for IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies. Ninety-six well Maxisorp plates were coated with 60 µg/mL of PF4 and 1 U/ml of heparin and underwent a one-hour incubation at room temperature. After washing, the plates were blocked with 3% BSA for two hours at room temperature. Patient or control sera, which were diluted at 1:50, were added to wells and incubated for one hour. After washing, alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-human IgG, IgM, or IgA were added to wells at a 1:4000 dilution followed by the addition of the substrate, p-NPP to detect PF4/heparin-bound anti-human IgG, IgM, or IgA antibodies. UV absorbance was then measured using a microplate photometer and the OD405 was used to assess the presence or absence of *in vivo* anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. For the detection of anti-PF4/heparin IgG and IgM antibodies, a positive result was classified by an OD₄₀₅ \geq 0.45 and a negative result was classified by an OD₄₀₅ <0.45. For the detection of anti-PF4/heparin IgA antibodies, a positive result was classified by an $OD_{405} \ge 0.35$ and a negative result was classified by an $OD_{405} < 0.35$. These OD cut-offs were defined previously in the literature and represent two standard deviations above the mean OD (Nazi, *et al* 2015a). Standard positive and negative control samples were included on each test plate.

<u>3.8 PROTEINASE K DIGESTION OF PF4</u>

Human platelet-derived PF4 was incubated overnight at room temperature with proteinase K in 1.5 M sodium chloride buffer. Proteinase K degrades amino bonds within polypeptide chains and was used to digest purified human platelet-derived PF4 in this study.

3.9 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

For all variables measured, normality of data distributions was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk

test. If a distribution was classified as non-normal, non-parametric statistical analyses were performed (i.e. Wilcoxon rank-sign test for paired samples and Spearman's ρ to assess correlation, and Kruskal-Wallis for analysis of variance). For any data distributions that were positively skewed, we used geometric mean as a measure of central tendency. If variables were determined to follow a normal distribution, we utilized mean as a measure of central tendency and we used parametric analyses to make statistical inferences. For statistical analyses, an alpha value of 0.05 was utilized to assign statistical significance. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (IBM) statistical software. All graphs were completed using Graphpad Prism 6.

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 VALIDATION OF THE PF4-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION ASSAY

4.1.1 PF4 is required to induce proliferation of PBMCs

We determined whether human platelet-derived PF4 was required to induce the *in vitro* proliferation of PBMCs isolated from a healthy volunteer. To complete this objective, PF4 was digested using proteinase K and compared to non-digested PF4 on a protein gel (Figure 2a). We utilized proteinase K to digest PF4 to ensure that PF4-dependent PBMC proliferation is not due to the presence of non-protein contaminants (i.e. LPS). Next, digested and non-digested PF4 were included in a ³H-thymidine uptake assay. We demonstrated that PBMC proliferation decreased with digested PF4 compared to non-digested PF4 [mean non-digested PF4 proliferation (in CPM) vs. mean digested PF4 proliferation (in CPM) \pm SEM of six replicates: 6612.4 \pm 758.2 vs. 481.9 \pm 57.9] (Figure 2b). To assess proliferation relative to the media control, we also calculated SI for non-digested PF4 and digested PF4, which were 9.2 and 0.64, respectively. In addition, digested PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL of heparin also lead to a decrease in proliferation compared to non-digested PF4 complexed with 0.25 U/mL of heparin [mean non-digested PF4/heparin proliferation]
(in CPM) vs. mean digested PF4/heparin proliferation (in CPM) \pm SEM of six replicates: 9012.9 \pm 948.9 vs. 422.3 \pm 63.5] (Figure 2b). The SIs for non-digested PF4/heparin and digested PF4/heparin were 12.5 and 0.56, respectively. Proliferation was not affected when PBMCs were incubated in media alone in either the non-digested or digested culture plates [mean media proliferation (in CPM) vs. mean media proliferation (in CPM) \pm SEM of six replicate wells: 718.9 \pm 78.0 vs. 757.50 \pm 68.6] (Figure 2b). To ensure that PBMCs maintained viability in both culture plates, we also incubated the PBMCs with R848 and IL-2, which can induce global proliferation of PBMCs [mean R848 and IL-2 proliferation in non-digested culture plates (in CPM) vs. mean R848 and IL-2 proliferation in digested culture plates (in CPM) \pm SEM of six replicate wells: 17386 \pm 782.3 vs. 15791 \pm 952.2] (data not shown). In summary, results from these experiments demonstrated that the proliferation of PBMCs was primarily dependent on the presence of intact PF4 and not additional non-protein contaminants such as LPS.

4.1.2 Heparin modifies PF4-dependent proliferation

To address whether heparin had an effect on the PF4-dependent proliferation response, we incubated PBMCs from healthy volunteers with PF4 complexed with various concentrations of heparin. We previously demonstrated in our laboratory that the majority of healthy volunteers did not possess PBMCs that proliferate in response to stimulation with PF4; however, a subset of these healthy volunteers did possess PBMCs that were responsive to PF4. We demonstrated in two of these healthy volunteers (n=2) that heparin was able to modify the PF4-dependent proliferation response. In the absence of heparin, we demonstrated that PF4 at a concentration of 50 μ g/mL induced PBMC proliferation [mean PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) ± SEM: 3.1 ± 0.36] (Figure 3). PF4-dependent proliferation increased when 0.25 U/mL of heparin was added to the PF4 (50 μ g/mL) [mean PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) ± SEM: 8.4 ± 0.36]. In

contrast, proliferation decreased when 2.5 U/mL of heparin was added to PF4 (50 μ g/mL) [mean PF4 combined with 2.5 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) ± SEM: 0.97 ± 0.11]. Taken together, these findings demonstrated that PF4 was able to induce proliferation and that the addition of heparin was able to modify the PF4-dependent proliferation response of PBMCs.

4.2 ASSESSING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PREOPERATIVE PF4-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION AND POSTOPERATIVE ANTI-PF4/HEPARIN ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

4.2.1 Baseline demographic and surgical characteristics of patient cohort

We analyzed forty-four patients at two time points: before and 4–8 days after CPB surgery. Table 1 demonstrates the baseline demographic and surgical characteristics of the cardiopulmonary bypass patient cohort included in the final analysis. Prior to CPB surgery, patients had mean platelet and leukocyte counts within the respective reference intervals, which suggests that these patients did not suffer from platelet or lymphoproliferative disorders at the time of recruitment. Table 1 also shows the preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative characteristics of the patient cohort. Prior to CPB surgery, a majority of patients [42 out of 44 patients (95.0%)] were confirmed to have undergone cardiac catheterization, which is suggestive of exposure to a heparin-coated catheter, but this exposure to heparin could not be confirmed by medical chart review. With regards to intraoperative characteristics, all patients included in the final analysis were confirmed to have undergone surgery on CPB. In addition, the majority of patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been administered heparin during surgery and all patients were confirmed to have been ad

4.2.2 Rates of preoperative and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production

38

CPB is known to induce the postoperative production anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in up to 70% of patients (Warkentin, et al 2013). Table 2 shows the number of patients who tested positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies before and after CPB. Using the PF4/polyanion-dependent EIA, 25.0% and 31.8% of patients tested positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies before and 4-8 days after surgery, respectively. We also demonstrated that after surgery, 15.9%, 29.5%, and 15.9% of patients produced anti-PF4/heparin IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies, respectively. Compared to the other two antibody classes, the highest proportion of patients [13 out of 44 (29.5%)] produced anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies in the 4–8-day period after surgery. Within the 4–8-day postoperative collection period, the majority of samples were collected on day 5 [20 out of 44 (45.5%)]. Furthermore, the proportion of patients who tested positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies according to postoperative day were: day 4 [0 out of 8 (0.00%)], day 5 [3 out of 20 (15.0%)], day 6 [5 out of 9 (55.6%)], day 7 [4 out of 5 (80%)], and day 8 [2 out of 2 (100%)]. These results demonstrate that samples collected on day 6, 7, and 8 had a greater likelihood of being positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies; however, further conclusions about postoperative antibody production cannot be made since samples were not collected from patients on sequential days in the postoperative period. Table 3 shows the mean levels of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies both before and 4-8 days after CPB surgery. This table demonstrates that the mean of anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels was negative both before and 4-8 days after CPB surgery. Furthermore, the mean of class-specific anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels before and after were also negative, which suggests that the majority of this cohort of CPB surgery patients did not produce high levels of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies postoperatively.

4.2.3 Levels of preoperative proliferation in CPB surgery patient cohort

We measured PF4- and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation in this cohort of patients prior

to CPB surgery. Figure 4 demonstrates no difference in the levels of PF4-dependent and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation within this cohort of patients prior to surgery [GM PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) vs. GM PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) \pm geometric SEM: 3.54 ± 1.2 vs. 3.43 ± 1.2 , P = 0.93]. To demonstrate the proliferative capacity of these cells, we also incubated the PBMCs with R848+IL-2 (positive control) [GM R848+IL-2 proliferation (in SI) \pm geometric SEM: 25.9 ± 1.4] (data not shown). Figure 5 shows a strong positive correlation between PF4- and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation in this patient cohort prior to surgery (Spearman's $\rho = 0.869$, P < 0.0001). Taken together, these findings demonstrate that the addition of heparin did not impact PF4-dependent proliferation in this cohort of patients prior to CPB surgery.

4.2.4 Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in this cohort of CPB surgery patients

We investigated whether preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Our findings show that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation was not associated with the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.02 (-0.32, 0.28), *P* = 0.91] (Figure 6a). Preoperative PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation is also not associated with the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = 0.02 (-0.32, 0.28), *P* = 0.91] (Figure 6a). Preoperative PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation is also not associated with the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = 0.03 (-0.27, 0.32), *P* = 0.86] (data not shown). Based on the current sample size and the limits of the 95% CI, we conclude that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is unable to predict postoperative polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin antibody production within this patient cohort.

We also assessed whether preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is associated with the postoperative production of class-specific (i.e. IgG, IgM, or IgA antibodies) anti-PF4/heparin

antibodies. Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation demonstrated a weak negative association with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.31 (-0.56, -0.02), P = 0.04] (Figure 6b). Investigations into whether preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation could explain variation in postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production demonstrated a weak fit with a linear model (R² = 0.07). Our findings also demonstrated that PF4-dependent proliferation was not associated with the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin IgM or IgA antibodies [IgM: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.04 (-0.33, 0.26), P = 0.78; IgA: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.05 (-0.34, 0.25), P = 0.73] (Figure 6c–d). Moreover, PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation was not associated with the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin IgG, IgM, or IgA antibodies [IgG: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.20 (-0.47, 0.10), P = 0.18; IgM: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.03 (-0.27, 0.32), P = 0.83; IgA: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.07 (-0.36, 0.23), P = 0.65] (data not shown). Based on the sample size and the limits of the 95% CI, we conclude that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation cannot predict postoperative class-specific anti-PF4/heparin antibody production within this patient cohort.

In addition to analyzing the association between preoperative proliferation and postoperative antibody production for the entire patient cohort, we qualitatively evaluated this relationship from the perspective of individual patients. Figure 7a–d demonstrates the relationship between preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation (measured in SI) and postoperative polyspecific and class-specific anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels for individual patients. The majority of patients in this cohort possessed a low-magnitude PF4-dependent proliferation response; however, two patients had PF4-dependent SIs of 53.0 and 45.8 preoperatively. These two patients also produced the highest levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies (i.e. $OD_{405} = 2.38$ and 1.61). A similar trend was also observed with preoperative PF4/heparin-specific proliferation and postoperative anti-

PF4/heparin IgM antibody levels (data not shown). Since these are anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies, they are not able to cause HIT and were therefore not evaluated for platelet-activating abilities using a functional assay. We also evaluated the relationship between the levels of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies both before and after surgery on a patient-specific level (Figure 8a–d). In contrast to preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation, patients who possessed the highest levels of preoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibodies were not the same patients who produced the highest levels of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. Based on these findings, it seems as through the two patients who had a high preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation response were more likely to produce postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies. Further conclusions cannot be made since the majority of patients had PBMCs that did not proliferate strongly in response to preoperative stimulation with PF4.

4.3 ASSESSING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN A HISTORY OF HEPARIN EXPOSURE OR MAJOR SURGERY AND PREOPERATIVE PROLIFERATION

4.3.1 History of heparin exposure and preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation

In this cohort of forty-four patients, we investigated whether a history of previous heparin exposure is associated with higher levels of PF4-dependent proliferation. The purpose of this analysis was to further describe this heterogeneous patient cohort and to determine whether we could identify a clinical marker that was associated with PF4-dependent proliferation. We categorized patients into three groups based on the likelihood of a history of heparin exposure. Table 4 shows that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is higher in patients who have had a definite previous exposure to heparin compared to patients who had a possible or unlikely heparin exposure, but this difference is not statistically significant. Preoperative polyspecific or classspecific anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels also did not differ significantly based on the likelihood of previous heparin exposure (Table 4). Due to the small sample size of patients within the category of "definite" heparin exposure, however, it is difficult to make conclusive statements about the effect of previous heparin exposure on preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation.

4.3.2 History of surgical trauma and preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation

We also investigated whether a history of surgical tissue trauma of varying severity is associated with increased levels of PF4-dependent proliferation. Major surgical trauma has been shown to be an independent predictor of HIT (Lubenow, *et al* 2010), and so the purpose of this analysis was to determine whether the severity of tissue trauma was related to the preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation response. To do this, we categorized patients into three groups based on whether each patient had undergone a surgical procedure classified as "major" or "minor", or had not undergone a surgical procedure according to their medical records (Table 5). Table 6 shows that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation and preoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels did not differ based on the history of surgical tissue trauma.

4.4 MEASURING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PREOPERATIVE FREQUENCY OF PF4-SPECIFIC ASCs AND POSTOPERATIVE ANTI-PF4/HEPARIN ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

4.4.1 Preoperative frequency of PF4-specific ASCs and class-specific postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels

In a subset of the patients recruited into this study (n=5), we performed an ELISPOT assay to quantify the frequency of PF4-specific ASCs in circulation prior to surgery and to identify whether this frequency of was associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Based on the small sample size, we determined that the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific IgM- or IgG-secreting ASCs are not associated with levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM or

IgG antibodies after CPB surgery [IgM: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = 0.30 (-0.79, 0.93), P = 0.683; IgG: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.21 (-0.92, 0.83), P = 0.600] (Figure 9a–b). Based on the small sample size and large range of correlation coefficients covered within the 95% CIs, we are unable to make convincing conclusions regarding the relationship between these two variables until sample size is increased. In addition, the preoperative frequency of PF4/heparin-specific IgM- or IgG-secreting ASCs were not associated with the levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM or IgG antibodies after CPB surgery [IgM: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.21 (-0.92, 0.83), P = 0.600; IgG: Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.87 (-0.99, 0.05), P = 0.03] (data not shown). Our small data set suggests that no relationship exists between preoperative ASC frequency and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels, but future investigations with a larger sample size are required to make meaningful conclusions.

4.5 MEASURING THE EFFECT OF CPB SURGERY ON PF4-DEPENDENT AND PF4/HEPARIN-DEPENDENT PROLIFERATION

4.5.1 PBMC proliferation is enhanced in the postoperative period after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery

We investigated PF4-dependent and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation in this cohort of patients before and after CPB surgery (n=12). Figure 10 shows that after CPB surgery patients exhibit higher levels of PF4-dependent proliferation compared to their preoperative levels of PF4-dependent proliferation [GM postoperative PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) vs. GM preoperative PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) \pm geometric SEM: 23.7 \pm 1.3 vs. 6.9 \pm 1.5, *P* = 0.009] (Figure 10). In the postoperative period, these patients also had a higher PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation response compared to the preoperative time-point, but this comparison did not reach statistical significance [GM postoperative PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) vs.

GM preoperative PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) \pm geometric SEM: 19.1 \pm 1.4 vs. 8.18 \pm 1.5, P = 0.064] (Figure 13). The mean proliferation in media alone did not increase after CPB surgery when compared to preoperative levels of proliferation in media alone [mean postoperative media alone proliferation (in CPM) vs. mean preoperative media alone proliferation (in CPM) \pm SEM: 572.5 \pm 85.9 vs. 624.7 \pm 115.9, P = 0.719] (data not shown). An important limitation of these findings are the lack of a non-PF4 protein to induce proliferation and a group of patients who did not undergo surgery on CPB. Taken together, these findings preliminarily suggest that proliferation of PBMCs following *in vitro* stimulation with PF4 increases in the period following CPB surgery.

5.0 DISCUSSION

HIT is an immune-mediated prothrombotic disorder that develops as a consequence of heparin therapy (Warkentin 2011b). Recent advances in the understanding of HIT immunobiology have suggested that the immune cell repertoire prior to heparin exposure may underlie susceptibility to HIT following heparin exposure (Krauel, *et al* 2011). In this study, we investigated whether the immune response to PF4 before heparin exposure is associated with the likelihood of developing the HIT immune response after surgery-associated heparin exposure.

First, we demonstrated that *in vitro* stimulation with human platelet-derived PF4 is able to induce the proliferation of PBMCs derived from patients before CPB surgery. Previous findings from our laboratory have shown that PF4-dependent proliferation of PBMCs is higher in HIT patients in comparison to healthy volunteers. PF4 is a chemokine that is versatile in function and has been shown to affect innate and adaptive immune cell function (Kasper and Petersen 2011). PBMCs are comprised of a heterogeneous pool of immune cells, including B cells, T cells, monocytes, and dendritic cells (Autissier, *et al* 2010). Studies have demonstrated that *in vitro* stimulation with PF4 suppresses the proliferation of isolated CD4⁺ T cells (Fleischer, *et al* 2002) but stimulates the proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells (Liu, *et al* 2005). Furthermore, recent findings have demonstrated that PF4/heparin is readily phagocytosed by dendritic cells (Joglekar, *et al* 2015) and PF4/heparin bound to complement can engage complement receptors (i.e. CR2) on human B cells (Khandelwal, *et al* 2016). The precise role of T cells and other immune cells in HIT remains poorly understood (Bakchoul, *et al* 2014).

Preliminary research from our laboratory using EdU to label newly synthesized DNA in PBMC cultures stimulated with PF4 suggests that surface expression of CD14 increases alongside the synthesis of DNA. CD14 is expressed on monocytes and dendritic cells, which comprise an

46

estimated 20% and 1.5% of human PBMCs, respectively (Autissier, et al 2010). In vitro stimulation with PF4 can facilitate monocyte chemotaxis (Osterman 1982) and the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages and dendritic cells (Fricke, et al 2004, Scheuerer 2000, Xia and Kao 2003). Human peripheral blood monocytes were originally classified as non-proliferating cells (van Furth, et al 1979); however, recent evidence demonstrates that a subset of peripheral blood monocytes can undergo proliferation following in vitro stimulation with M-CSF (Clanchy, et al 2006). Monocytes also do not proliferate as they differentiate into dendritic cells (Ardeshna, et al 2000). Preliminary studies from our laboratory suggest that CD14 expression increases following stimulation of human PBMCs with PF4, but the ability for human-derived monocytes to undergo proliferation remains controversial. Consistent with a role for CD14-expressing cells in the PF4-dependent proliferation response, PF4/heparin complexes have been shown to engage TLR4 on human PBMCs and induce immune activation via IL-8 secretion (Prechel and Walenga 2015). Future studies of additional cell surface markers are required to determine the precise phenotype of the PBMC subset(s) that undergo proliferation in response to in vitro stimulation with PF4.

At a PF4-to-heparin ratio (PHR) = 13:1 (i.e. 0.25 U/mL heparin added to 50 μ g/mL PF4) proliferation was higher than that observed in PF4 alone. Studies have not investigated the effect of PF4 on proliferation, but murine studies of PF4/heparin immunogenicity demonstrate maximal anti-PF4/heparin antibody generation with a PHR of 20:1 and 10:1 (Suvarna, *et al* 2007). Heparin also enhances the ability for cationic proteins including PF4 to induce IL-12 secretion by dendritic cells (Chudasama, *et al* 2010) and endocytosis of PF4 by dendritic cells is maximized at a PHR = 7:1 (Joglekar, *et al* 2015). The ability for PF4/heparin to activate TLR4 on human PBMCs is maximized at PHR of 12.5:1, which is consistent with the PHR that we employed in our studies.

The ability of heparin to aggregate tetramers of PF4 may also contribute to the ability of PF4/heparin to induce immune cell activation, as aggregated protein antigens are known to be more immunogenic than soluble protein antigens (Wang 2012). Positively charged PF4/heparin complexes may also elicit immune cell activation via their ability to interact with the negatively charged surface of cells (Suvarna, *et al* 2007) since anionic surfaces can enhance the immunogenicity of protein antigens (Yanasarn, *et al* 2011). Our findings are consistent with previous studies demonstrating that positively charged PF4/heparin is immunogenic and suggests that activation of the immune response in HIT may be impacted by the electrostatic charge of PF4/heparin.

Antigenic studies of PF4/heparin demonstrate that antibody binding is highest at a PHR = 1:1, as this PHR produces charge-neutralized complexes that are larger than positively charged PF4/heparin complexes (Rauova, *et al* 2005). Our findings demonstrated that a ten-fold increase in the concentration of heparin (i.e. PHR = 1.3:1) suppresses PF4-dependent proliferation. Consistent with these findings, PF4/heparin complexes with a PHR = 2.6:1 or 1:1 suppresses anti-PF4/heparin antibody generation in mice (Suvarna, *et al* 2007). Furthermore, the ability of PF4/heparin to activate TLR4 is decreased at a PHR = 1.25:1 (Prechel and Walenga 2015), which is consistent with our results demonstrating a dampening of proliferation at an equimolar PHR. PF4/heparin may possess distinct immunogenic and antigenic properties that differently modulate the generation and binding of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in HIT.

We demonstrate that prior to CPB surgery, no difference exists in the PF4- and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation response. In addition to exogenous heparin, PF4 also interacts with endogenous GAGs to form PF4/GAG complexes on the surfaces of platelets and monocytes (Rauova, *et al* 2010, Rauova, *et al* 2006). Patients who undergo CPB surgery can suffer from

atherosclerosis (Senay, *et al* 2011), which, in conjunction with aging, are both associated with increased GAG expression (Bilato and Crow 1996). PBMCs derived from these patients may therefore express increased levels of GAGs on their surface, but this has not been demonstrated in the literature. The inability for heparin to enhance the PF4-dependent proliferation response in these patients may be a consequence of the presence of endogenous GAGs, which when in complex with PF4, can induce similar levels of proliferation. PF4 can also form complexes with other endogenous polyanions such as nucleic acids (Jaax, *et al* 2013), but the immunogenic properties of these other PF4/polyanion complexes have not been explored. Our results also demonstrated some variability in the preoperative proliferation response between patients; this could be due to differences in cellular responsiveness to PF4 or variability in other patient-specific variables such as psychological stress, which has been shown to affect mitogen-specific immune cell proliferation (Segerstrom and Miller 2004).

In this patient cohort, our results show that 14 out of 44 (32%) patients produced anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in following CPB surgery. Studies into HIT antibody production have shown that 27%–65% of CPB surgery patients test positive for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in the postoperative period (Bauer, *et al* 1997, Francis, *et al* 2003, Gluckman, *et al* 2009, Pouplard, *et al* 2005, Trossaert, *et al* 1998, Visentin, *et al* 1996, Warkentin, *et al* 2000, Warkentin, *et al* 2013). In this study, Low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) was used almost exclusively for postoperative thromboprophylaxis and none of the patients in this cohort were administered postoperative heparin without LMWH. LMWH is less immunogenic than heparin (Greinacher, *et al* 2008) and is also less likely to cause HIT (Gruel, *et al* 2003). As of late, various healthcare centres have begun to prescribe LMWH more than heparin for thromboprophylaxis and this shift has been associated with a lower burden of HIT in hospitalized patients (Al-Eidan 2015, McGowan, *et al* 2016). One study that compared antibody production in cardiac surgery patients receiving either heparin or LMWH showed that 29% and 22% of patients tested positive for postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibodies, respectively (Pouplard, et al 1999). In another study, the frequency of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production was higher for cardiac surgery patients who received heparin compared to LMWH (Visentin, et al 1996). The low frequency of anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in this study is consistent with the previously published lower estimates of antibody production in CPB patients, but may also be the result of exclusive postoperative thromboprophylaxis with LMWH. Another factor that may have contributed to the low rate of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production is that 28 out of 44 (64%) samples were collected early in the postoperative interval and anti-PF4/heparin antibody production is more likely to occur later (i.e. >5-6 days) from the start of heparin therapy (Warkentin, et al 2009). Our findings also demonstrated that the highest proportion of patients produced anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies before and after CPB surgery. In a study of orthopedic surgery, postoperative LMWH is associated with greater rates of anti-PF4/heparin IgM and IgA antibodies production compared to the IgG isotype (Walenga, et al 2004); however, this has not been noted in CPB patients receiving postoperative LMWH. The clinical importance of anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies is not well-known, but studies have demonstrated that their presence preoperatively is associated with higher rates of postoperative complications and longer hospital stays (Selleng, et al 2010b).

Multiple hypotheses have been posited to explain the ability for PF4 to become immunogenic in a subset of patients administered heparin. One hypothesis suggests that the PF4/heparin-specific immune response is "primed" by exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes prior to heparin exposure (Krauel, *et al* 2011). Atherosclerosis and heart disease are associated with elevated concentrations of PF4 (Levine, *et al* 1981, Pitsilos, *et al* 2003, Sachais, *et al* 2007). We

hypothesized that a subset of these patients have a PF4-responsive immune cell repertoire before surgery that may predispose them to forming anti-PF4/heparin antibodies after CPB surgery. Our findings demonstrate that an association does not exist between preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. This analysis, however, is based on a patient cohort with a low rate of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production and so these findings may not apply to surgical populations with higher rates of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody seroconversion. Proliferation of antigen-specific lymphocyte clones precedes differentiation into effector cells and is required to produce an adaptive immune response (Quah, et al 2007); however, we evaluated PF4-dependent proliferation of PBMCs, which contain both innate and adaptive immune cells. As mentioned previously, expression of CD14 seems to increase following *in vitro* stimulation with PF4, a finding that suggests that PF4 is triggering the activation of innate immune cells, which, of course, do not contribute directly to antibody production. Therefore, PF4-dependent PBMC proliferation in this patient cohort may reflect an innate mechanism. Our findings also demonstrated a degree of variability in the preoperative PF4dependent proliferation response; it is possible that this variability in proliferation is the result of polymorphisms in innate immune receptors such as TLR4. A role for innate immune cells in the PF4-dependent proliferation response provides an explanation for the lack of a relationship between proliferation and antibody production. This study is the first known attempt at utilizing preoperative immunological assays to predict HIT susceptibility in a cohort of surgical patients. One previous study found that the severity of atherosclerotic plaques was not associated with the production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies after CPB surgery (Cuker, et al 2014). These authors concluded that exposure polyanion-modified PF4 in patients with atherosclerotic plaques may not contribute to the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. Future studies that utilize immunological markers directly involved in B cell activation may be have a better chance at establishing a relationship with anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in heparin-exposed patients.

HIT is characterized by atypical immunological features such as the rapid generation of anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies after primary heparin exposure (Greinacher, et al 2009) and the lack of immune memory with repeat heparin exposure (Warkentin and Sheppard 2014). As a result of these unique features, researchers have suggested that innate immune components such as innate-like B cells may contribute to the HIT immune response (Krauel, et al 2016, Zheng, et al 2013). Qualitative analysis of individual patients demonstrates that two patients who had the strongest PF4-dependent proliferation response before surgery also produced the highest levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies after surgery. Anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies are unable to cause HIT, but have been observed to rise alongside IgG antibodies in patients diagnosed with HIT (Warkentin, et al 2009). Marginal zone B cells and B1 cells are known to secrete IgM antibodies and have both been implicated in the production of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies (Krauel, et al 2016, Zheng, et al 2013). In humans, innate-like B cells exist within the peripheral circulation of adult humans (Montecino-Rodriguez and Dorshkind 2012, Weller, et al 2004); these cells also express innate immune receptors and may become activated following stimulation with PF4 (Prechel and Walenga 2013, Prechel and Walenga 2015). It is possible that innate-like B cells may be involved in the observed preoperative proliferation response and postoperative IgM response in these two patients, but further investigations are required to confirm this notion. Moreover, the preoperative proliferation assay utilized in this study would likely not possess clinical relevance in identifying surgical patients at risk for developing HIT as preoperative proliferation was not predictive with postoperative IgG antibody production in this patient cohort. We cannot, however, conclusively

state that preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is unable to predict HIT because no patients within this cohort developed HIT postoperatively.

Severe tissue trauma is an independent predictor of HIT (Lubenow, *et al* 2010) and exposure to heparin in a non-inflammatory context can elicit anti-PF4/heparin antibody production (Kelton, *et al* 2012); therefore, we investigated whether a history of major surgical trauma or heparin exposure can predict the magnitude of the preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation response. We were unable to demonstrate that a history of exposure to heparin or surgically induced inflammation can predict preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation. These results are consistent with a potential role for non-anamnestic innate immune cells and not lymphocytes in responding to *in vitro* stimulation with PF4. If PF4 is inducing proliferation of innate immune cell subset(s), we would expect the magnitude of the response to remain consistent across multiple exposures to the same antigen. Again, however, this conclusion is limited by the lack of patients who possessed a high magnitude PF4-dependent proliferation preoperatively. Up to now, HIT studies have not yet analyzed how the pre-heparin immune cell repertoire responds to PF4 and how this may relate to the likelihood of development HIT after heparin exposure.

To further characterize the preoperative PF4-specific immune response, we utilized a PBMC ELISPOT assay to determine whether the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific ASCs can predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Firm conclusions regarding the association (or lack thereof) between these variables cannot be made for this preliminary data set due to the small sample size (Goodwin and Leech 2006). Our preliminary findings demonstrate that the frequency of preoperative PF4-specific IgG- or IgM-specific ASCs does not predict the postoperative production of anti-PF4/heparin IgG or IgM antibodies, respectively. Similar to the patient cohort used to study PF4-dependent proliferation, these five patients did not produce high

levels of anti-PF4/heparin IgM or IgG antibodies in the postoperative period. CPB surgery has been shown to spontaneously increase the number of postoperative IgG, IgM, and IgA-secreting ASCs specific for various pathogens (Salo, et al 1997). Moreover, IgG-specific anti-tetanus toxin and anti-diphtheria toxin antibodies have been shown to increase constantly over a four-month period after CPB surgery (Potschke, et al 2012). Other studies have also shown that anti-tetanus toxin antibodies increase by the fifth day after cardiac surgery (Lante, et al 2005) and that CPB surgery mediates a shift towards Th2-dominant immune responses (Franke, et al 2006). Studies have also demonstrated that lymphocyte repertoires vary before surgery and these authors suggest that this may result from differences in psychological stress levels and medications between patients (Bartal, et al 2010). Currently, however, no studies in HIT or other immune-mediated iatrogenic disorders have evaluated the relationship between preoperative B cell frequency and postoperative antibody levels. Recurrent episodes of HIT are unlikely in patients who have had HIT and who are re-exposed to heparin (Potschke 2000) and heparin re-exposure in these patients does not lead to a classic secondary anti-PF4/heparin antibody response (Warkentin and Sheppard 2014). CPB surgery patients who produce postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies have been shown to possess low levels of PF4/heparin-specific memory B cells compared to tetanus toxoid-specific memory B cells (Selleng, et al 2010a). In the five patients tested, we have shown a low frequency of preoperative PF4-specific (or PF4/heparin-specific) ASCs, which suggests that exposure to PF4 modified by polyanions prior to heparin cannot generate memory B cells. Consistent with studies demonstrating a lack of anamnesis in HIT, the inability of preoperative PF4-specific ASC frequency to predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production might suggest that the immune response in HIT is mediated by innate-like B cells, since these cells do not typically generate memory responses following antigen re-exposure (Defrance, et al 2011).

However, further conclusions cannot be made regarding the effect of preoperative B cell frequency on postoperative antibody production given the small sample size, low rate of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, and absence of patients who developed HIT.

CPB is an invasive surgical intervention that requires blood to be rerouted through a mechanical apparatus for oxygenation before re-entering circulation. As blood passes through the extracorporeal tubing, it undergoes high rates of mechanical shear and changes in the morphology and function of various blood cells (Rinder, et al 1997, Weerasinghe and Taylor 1998). CPB also causes a systemic inflammatory response that can induce widespread cytokine release and activate both innate and adaptive immune cells (Whitlock, et al 2015). Our results demonstrate that PF4dependent proliferation is higher in patients 5–6 days after CPB surgery compared to before surgery. In contrast, unstimulated PBMCs did not demonstrate an increase in proliferation after surgery when compared to before surgery. However, future studies utilizing a non-PF4 protein and a sample of patients undergoing non-CPB cardiac surgery are required to determine whether the observed increase in proliferation is specific to PF4 and CPB patients. Previous studies have shown that CPB increases the proliferation of unstimulated lymphocytes, but not lymphocytes stimulated by mitogens (Salo, et al 1997). Cellular exhaustion or the ability for mitogens to maximize proliferation responses may explain the inability for the postoperative lymphocytes to undergo proliferation. PF4/heparin can engage TLR4 and elicit immune activation via cytokine synthesis (Prechel and Walenga 2015). High perioperative concentrations of circulating PF4/polyanion complexes may possess adjuvant-like properties that induce activation of immune cells by interacting with innate immune receptors. Furthermore, CPB is also associated with an increase in TLR4 on human monocytes following surgery (Dybdahl 2001), and CPB leads to the increased production of proinflammatory cytokines one week after surgery (Gasz, et al 2006). The observed increase in postoperative PF4-dependent proliferation may be due to higher levels of responsiveness to PF4 by PBMCs following surgically induced inflammation. Another hypothesis posited to explain HIT immunobiology suggests that a breakdown of regulatory mechanisms may active autoreactive B cells to produce HIT antibodies (Zheng, *et al* 2014). Extracorporeal circulation in surgery can lead to an inhibition of T cell function (Franke, *et al* 2006) and systemic inflammatory response followed by a compensatory anti-inflammatory response (Duggan, *et al* 2006, Gasz, *et al* 2006). Furthermore, *in vitro* stimulation with PF4 has been shown to suppress the function of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells (Liu, *et al* 2005) and may contribute to a suppression of immune regulatory mechanisms. It is possible that the observed increase in postoperative PF4-dependent PBMC proliferation is partially due to a surgically induced suppression of regulatory mechanisms.

6.0 STUDY LIMITATIONS

In this study, we utilized a prospective cohort design to identify a preoperative immune marker that could predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production in patients undergoing CPB surgery. One limitation of the current study is the collection of a single postoperative blood sample over a four-day postoperative interval, as this method of sample collection does not allow for the monitoring of anti-PF4/heparin antibody production over the entire postoperative period. Of the forty-four patients included in the final analysis, over 60% had postoperative samples collected on day 4 and 5, but studies have demonstrated that the likelihood of anti-PF4/heparin antibody production increases with time from CPB surgery (Warkentin, et al 2009). Therefore, some of the recruited patients may not have begun to produce anti-PF4/heparin antibodies until later in the postoperative window. Collection of postoperative samples on later days might allow us to establish a clearer relationship between preoperative proliferation and the presence (rather than the absence) of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. Furthermore, all the patients included in this study were administered LMWH for postoperative thromboprophylaxis, which is associated with lower rates of anti-PF4/heparin antibody production and a lower incidence of HIT. Recent studies have demonstrated the cost feasibility and reduction in HIT diagnoses with the avoidance of heparin (McGowan, et al 2016). Continued avoidance of heparin usage may interfere with future prospective studies attempting to predict the HIT immune response in a cohort of at-risk surgical patients. The chart review protocol utilized in this study was effective for characterizing the heterogeneous patient cohort, but insight into previous surgeries and heparin exposure events was limited by the lack of an integrative electronic charting system that spans healthcare networks outside of Hamilton.

To detect PF4-dependent proliferation we utilized a ³H-thymidine uptake assay, which has dominated studies of cellular proliferation over the previous five decades (Sidman, *et al* 1959). This assay, however, has disadvantages including the usage of radioactive isotopes and the fact that ³H-thymidine is incorporated into the nuclear DNA during the S-phase of the cell cycle, which can be initiated independently of cellular mitosis (Duque and Rakic 2011). Other disadvantages include the time required to perform the assay, and its inability to quantify the levels of cell death and identify the exact cell types that are incorporating the ³H-thymidine (Mead and Lefebvre 2014). As mentioned previously, this proliferation assay is also sensitive to psychological stressors (Segerstrom and Miller 2004), a variable that may have affected patients recruited into this study. Utilization of a heterogeneous pool of PBMCs to detect PF4-dependent proliferation also prevented us from identifying the cellular subset(s) responding to stimulation with PF4.

7.0 CONCLUSIONS

In a subset of individuals, PBMCs are able to undergo proliferation following *in vitro* stimulation with PF4 and this response can be modified by the addition of heparin. These results are consistent with studies into the immunobiology of HIT, which suggest that net cationic PF4/heparin complexes are able to elicit an immune response. We also demonstrated that in a cohort of patients undergoing CPB surgery, preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not predictive of postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. These results suggest that PF4 may not affect the function of lymphocytes and may instead cause the proliferation of innate immune cells prior to surgery. Preliminary evidence also suggests that the preoperative frequency of PF4-specific B cells does not predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, but conclusive statements cannot be made until the sample size is increased. If this trend continues with a larger sample size, it may suggest that exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes may not be involved in the HIT immune response after heparin exposure or innate-like B cells play a significant role in the postoperative production of HIT antibodies. Lastly, we demonstrated that the PF4-dependent proliferation is increased after CPB surgery compared to before surgery, which suggests that the immune system is responsive to PF4 in the immediate postoperative period and this may contribute to the immune response that leads to HIT. Taken together, our findings suggest that the PF4-dependent immune response prior to CPB surgery is unable to predict susceptibility to HIT following heparin exposure, but may provide insight in the PF4-specific immune response following surgery. Future directions may be to assess the ability of markers directly involved in B cell activation prior to surgery to predict HIT antibody production.

8.0 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

To further elucidate the exact cellular subset(s) that proliferate in response to PF4, we would need to utilize EdU or CFSE to stain nuclear DNA in conjunction with various surface markers (i.e. CD19, CD3, and CD14) in order to identify the cell(s) that are proliferating within the pool of PBMCs. Identification of the exact cellular subset(s) that are responding to PF4 will allow us to make conclusions regarding the types and functions of cells that are contributing to the HIT immune response. Furthermore, identification of the receptors and cellular pathways involved in the PF4-dependent proliferation response. To investigate the role of GAGs in contributing to PF4-dependent proliferation, future investigations could employ a cell line that lacks the ability to produce GAGs (Schowalter, *et al* 2011), or incubate human PBMCs with an enzyme that cleaves surface GAGs prior to measuring the levels of PF4-dependent proliferation.

The immune response in HIT is atypical and previous studies have implicated murine marginal zone B cells in the generation of anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies (Zheng, *et al* 2013). One future investigation could determine whether the number of marginal zone B cells (i.e. IgM⁺IgD⁺CD27⁺ cells) in human circulation are increased patients with HIT compared to healthy controls or postoperative CPB patients who do not develop HIT. To further investigate the role for marginal zone B cells in contributing to HIT antibody production, a retrospective cohort design could be utilized to determine whether patients who have had a splenectomy are less likely to develop HIT compared to patients who possess a functional spleen. Another experiment could be to measure whether *in vitro* stimulation of isolated human B cells with PF4/heparin after CPB surgery can induce class-switch recombination as measured by B cell activation markers such as cytidine deaminase. Since the immunobiology of HIT remains an unknown aspect of this disorder,

flow cytometry-based studies of human B cells should investigate whether PF4/heparin is able to crosslink B cell receptors via the detection of CD79b, which contributes to the B cell transduction pathway, and intracellular Ca^{2+} , which is a downstream marker of B cell receptor activation.

The purpose of this study was to utilize preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation to predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Although this marker was not able to predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production, future studies should continue to investigate other preoperative immune markers for their ability to predict patients who may be predisposed to HIT prior to heparin exposure. Identification of a preoperative biomarker for an antibody-mediated disorder may lie in the evaluation of B cell subsets and activation markers prior to surgery. Future studies could assess whether the number of circulating innate-like B cells prior to surgery can predict postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Identification of a reliable preoperative marker for HIT in at-risk populations could help prevent the life-threatening consequences associated with this immune-mediated drug reaction.

9.0 FIGURES



Figure 1. Combined model of HIT immunobiology. Panel A: The HIT-associated T celldependent antibody response may begin with primary exposure to PF4/polyanion complexes throughout one's lifetime. These complexes may activate follicular (FO) B cells via follicular T helper (T_{FH}) cells, which interact through major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II-PF4 peptide interactions to induce anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody production. Anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibodies may circulate in individuals independent of any heparin exposure. Panel B: Another aspect of the T cell-dependent antibody response is the ability for a primary exposure to PF4/polyanion to potentially generate PF4/polyanion-specific memory B cells that can produce anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibodies with primary exposure to PF4/heparin complexes after heparin infusion. These two biological mechanisms may together contribute to the T cell-dependent antibody response in HIT. Panel C: The T cell-independent antibody response in HIT may be initiated following primary exposure to PF4/heparin in a surgical setting. PF4/heparin may crosslink B cell receptors (BCR) on B cells. In conjunction with co-stimulation provided by different sources including T cells, danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs), high concentrations of PF4/heparin, immunomodulatory cytokines, and/or follicular dendritic cells (FDC) and complement may potentiate rapid production of IgM and IgG anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that contribute to HIT.



Figure 2. Non-digested PF4 is required to induce PBMC proliferation. A: PF4 (50 μ g/mL) digested with proteinase K does not appear on a protein gel, but non-digested PF4 does appear as an 8 kDa band. B: Non-digested PF4 (50 μ g/mL) induces proliferation of PBMCs both alone and in complex with 0.25 U/mL heparin (black bars). Digested PF4 does not induce proliferation of PBMCs both alone or in complex with 0.25 U/mL UFH (white bars). PBMCs cultured in media alone do not undergo proliferation in either condition. Error bars represent the mean of six replicate wells ± SEM.



Figure 3. PF4-dependent proliferation is modified by the addition of heparin. In individuals who have PBMCs responsive to PF4 (n=2), proliferation is highest when PBMCs are stimulated by PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL of heparin. PF4 alone and PF4 combined with 2.5 U/mL of heparin induce lower levels of proliferation. Error bars represent the mean of two individuals \pm SEM.



Figure 4. PF4-dependent proliferation and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation before surgery. No difference exists in the levels of PF4-dependent and PF4/heparin-dependent in this patient cohort before cardiopulmonary bypass surgery [GM PF4 alone proliferation (in SI) vs. GM PF4 combined with 0.25 U/mL heparin proliferation (in SI) \pm geometric SEM: 3.54 \pm 1.2 vs. 3.43 \pm 1.2, P = 0.93]. Line represents the geometric mean.



Figure 5. PF4-dependent proliferation is associated with PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation in this patient cohort. Preoperative PF4-dependent and PF4/heparin-dependent proliferation of PBMCs from this preoperative patient cohort demonstrate a strong positive association (Spearman's $\rho = 0.869$, *P* < 0.0001).



Figure 6A–D. Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. A: Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.02 (-0.32, 0.28), P = 0.91]. Dotted line represents the 0.40 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. B: Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation exhibits a weak negative association with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody levels [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.31 (-0.56, -0.02), P = 0.04]. Dotted line represents 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. C: Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody levels [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.04 (-0.33, 0.26), P = 0.78]. Dotted line represents the 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. D: Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody levels [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.04 (-0.33, 0.26), P = 0.78]. Dotted line represents the 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. D: Preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation is not associated with postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgA antibody levels [Spearman's ρ (95% CI) = -0.05 (-0.34, 0.25), P = 0.73]. Dotted line represents 0.35 OD₄₀₅ cut-off.



Figure 7A–D. Individual patient analysis of preoperative PF4-dependent proliferation and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. A: Polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin antibody levels. Dotted line represents 0.40 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. B: Postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody levels. Dotted line represents 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off C: Postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody levels. Dotted line represents the 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. D: Postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgA antibody levels. Dotted line represents 0.35 OD₄₀₅ cut-off.



Figure 8A–D. Individual patient analysis of preoperative and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. A: Polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. Dotted line represents 0.40 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. B: Anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production. Dotted line represents 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off C: Anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody production. Dotted line represents the 0.45 OD₄₀₅ cut-off. D: Anti-PF4/heparin IgA antibody production. Dotted line represents 0.35 OD₄₀₅ cut-off.



Figure 9A–B. Preoperative frequency of PF4-specific ASCs and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin antibody production. A: Preoperative frequency of PF4-specific IgM ASCs and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgM antibody production (Spearman's $\rho = 0.300$, P = 0.683). B: Preoperative frequency of PF4-specific IgG ASCs and postoperative anti-PF4/heparin IgG antibody production (Spearman's $\rho = -0.205$, P = 0.600).



Figure 10. PF4-dependent proliferation increases after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. In vitro stimulation with human platelet-derived PF4 induces higher levels of PBMC proliferation (as measured in SI) after surgery compared to before surgery (23.7 vs. 6.94, P = 0.009). In vitro stimulation with PF4/heparin also induces higher levels of PBMC proliferation (as measured in SI) post-surgery compared to pre-surgery, but this difference is not significant (19.1 vs. 8.18, P = 0.064). PBMC proliferation (as measured in CPM) in media alone does not increase post-surgery compared to pre-surgery (572.5 vs. 624.7, P = 0.719) (data not shown). Error bars represent the GM and 95% CI.
<u>10.0 TABLES</u>

Table 1. Baseline demographic and surgical characteristics of patient coho	ort.
--	------

Characteristic	
Baseline characteristics	
No. of patients	44
Age (years) ^a	68.4 ± 10.8
Female	11 (25%)
BMI (kg/m ²) ^a	30.6 ± 8.5
Diabetes mellitus	15 (34.1%)
Preoperative platelet count (x10 ⁹ /L) ^a	220 ± 57.8
Preoperative leukocyte count (x10 ⁹ /L) ^a	7.42 ± 1.51
Preoperative hemoglobin concentration (g/L) ^a	140 ± 14.1
Surgery characteristics	
Preoperative cardiac catheterization [†]	42 (95.5%)
Type of surgery CABG Valve surgery CABG + valve surgery	24 (54.5%) 10 (22.7%) 10 (22.7%)
Intraoperative heparin dose (units) ^{a,††}	$5.19 \times 10^4 \pm 9.16 \times 10^3$
Cardiopulmonary bypass time (minutes) ^{a,‡}	100.9 ± 35.8
Cross-clamp time (minutes) ^{a,‡}	82.7 ± 30
Patients on postoperative LMWH only ^{‡‡}	42 (95.5%)
Days on postoperative LMWH ^a	6.0 ± 4.5
^a Mean ± standard deviation (SD). [†] Cardiac catheteriza	tion not confirmed for two

^aMean ± standard deviation (SD). ^TCardiac catheterization not confirmed for two patients. ^{††}Heparin dose not confirmed for five patients. [‡]Cardiopulmonary bypass time and cross-clamp time not confirmed for one patient. ^{‡‡}Two patients underwent additional anticoagulant therapy with either heparin or fondaparinux. BMI, body mass index; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; LMWH, low molecular weight heparin.

Table 2. The proportion of cardiopulmonary bypass patients who had positive anti-PF4/heparin antibodies before and 4–8 days after surgery.

PF4-dependent antibody assay	Surgical time-points			
PF4/polyanion-dependent EIA	Pre-surgery [†]	Post-surgery (4-8 days) ^{††}		
Polyspecific	11 (25.0%)	14 (31.8%)		
PF4/heparin-dependent EIA				
IgG-specific	4 (9.10%)	7 (15.9%)		
IgM-specific	9 (20.5%)	13 (29.5%)		
IgA-specific	2 (4.55%)	7 (15.9%)		
[†] One patient had both IgM and IgA antibodies and two patients had IgG and IgM				
antibodies before surgery. ^{TT} Two patients had IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies, four patients				
had IgG and IgM antibodies, and one patient had IgM and IgA antibodies after surgery.				

Table 3. The levels of anti-PF4/hep	arin antibodies before and 4–8 days after
cardiopulmonary bypass surgery.	

PF4-dependent antibody assay	Surgical time-points		
PF4/polyanion-dependent EIA	Pre-surgery [†]	Post-surgery (4-8 days) ^{††}	
Polyspecific ^b	0.24 ± 0.15	0.30 ± 0.37	
PF4/heparin-dependent EIA			
IgG-specific [♭]	0.23 ± 0.16	0.25 ± 0.22	
IgM-specific ^b	0.30 ± 0.22	0.33 ± 0.42	
IgA-specific ^b	0.18 ± 0.08	0.21 ± 0.28	
^a Geometric mean ± geometric standard deviation (SD).			

	Probability of previous heparin exposure			
Baseline	Definite	Possible	Ünlikely	Р
No. of patients	2 (4.55%)	28 (63.6%)	14 (31.8%)	-
Age (years) ^a	76.5 ± 3.54	69.5 ± 9.58	66.1 ± 12.8	-
BMI (kg/m ²) ^a	26.8 ± 3.72	30.2 ± 5.37	31.1 ± 12.4	-
Female	0 (0.00%)	8 (18.2%)	3 (6.82%)	-
Preoperative assay				
Polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin EIA (OD) ^b	0.410 (0.250, 0.673)	0.231 (0.182, 0.294)	0.241 (0.176, 0.331)	0.387
IgG-specific anti-PF4/heparin EIA (OD) ^b	0.256 (0.018, 3.61)	0.232 (0.191, 0.281)	0.248 (0.166, 0.234)	0.852
IgM-specific anti-PF4/heparin EIA $(OD)^{b}$	0.805 (0.167, 3.87)	0.301 (0.243, 0.372)	0.284 (0.222, 0.364)	0.091
PF4-dependent proliferation (SI) ^b	7.98 (1.37, 46.6)	3.98 (2.48, 6.38)	2.81 (1.33, 5.95)	0.326
^a Mean ± standard deviation (SD). ^b Geometric mean (95% CI).				

 Table 4. History of heparin exposure and preoperative PF4-dependent assays.

Table 5. The proportion of patients who have had a previous surgical procedure.

Type of surgery	N (%)		
Major surgery			
Open-heart surgery*	3 (6.82%)		
ТКА	4 (9.09%)		
THA	1 (2.27%)		
Other [†]	7 (15.9%)		
Subtotal	15 (34.1%)		
Minor surgery			
Hernia repair	6 (13.6%)		
PCI	5 (11.4%)		
Other ^{††}	10 (22.7%)		
Subtotal	21 (47.7%)		
No surgery [‡]	8 (18.2%)		
Total	44 (100%)		
*Two patients underwent previous CABG or valve surgery. One patient underwent cardiac surgery in childhood. [†] Includes			
hysterectomy, cesarean section, sp	inal surgery, and breast		
augmentation. "Includes appendecto	omy, tonsillectomy, dental		
extraction, cystoscopy, arthroscopy,	and cataract surgery. *No		
surgery noted in medical chart. TKA, to	otal knee arthroplasty; IHA,		
total hip arthroplasty; PCI, percutaneou	s coronary intervention.		

	History of surgical intervention			
Baseline	Major	Minor	None	Р
No. of patients	15 (34.1%)	21 (47.7%)	8 (18.2%)	-
Age (years) ^a	69.6 ± 11.6	69.4 ± 9.69	64.3 ± 12.6	-
BMI (kg/m ²) ^a	30.0 ± 5.99	31.2 ± 10.8	30.8 ± 5.11	-
Female	8 (18.2%)	3 (6.82%)	0 (0.00%)	-
Preoperative assay				
Polyspecific anti-PF4/heparin EIA (OD) ^b	0.226 (0.168, 0.303)	0.230 (0.173, 0.305)	0.283 (0.187,0.428)	0.653
IgG-specific anti-PF4/heparin EIA (OD) ^b	0.230 (0.174, 0.305)	0.229 (0.185, 0.283)	0.246 (0.149, 0.406)	0.924
IgM-specific anti-PF4/heparin EIA (OD) ^b	0.314 (0.231, 0.427)	0.275 (0.223, 0.340)	0.357 (0.215, 0.593)	0.609
PF4-dependent proliferation (SI) ^b	3.50 (1.72, 7.14)	3.80 (2.21, 6.53)	2.99 (1.19, 7.54)	0.982
^a Mean ± standard deviation (SD). ^b Geometric mean (95% CI).				

Table 6. History of surgical trauma and preoperative PF4-dependent assays.

11.0 REFERENCES

- Ahmed, I., Majeed, A. & Powell, R. (2007) Heparin induced thrombocytopenia: diagnosis and management update. *Postgrad Med J*, **83**, 575-582.
- Al-Eidan, F.A. (2015) Is the incidence trend of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia decreased by the increased use of low-molecular-weight-heparin? *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis*, **7**, e2015029.
- Ardeshna, Pizzey, Thomas, Orr, Linch & Devereux (2000) Monocyte-derived dendritic cells do not proliferate and are not susceptible to retroviral transduction. *British Journal of Haematology*, **108**, 817-824.
- Arepally, G.M. & Ortel, T.L. (2006) Clinical practice. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. N Engl J Med, 355, 809-817.
- Arnold, D.M. & Lim, W. (2011) A rational approach to the diagnosis and management of thrombocytopenia in the hospitalized patient. *Semin Hematol*, **48**, 251-258.
- Arnold, D.M., Nazi, I., Warkentin, T.E., Smith, J.W., Toltl, L.J., George, J.N. & Kelton, J.G. (2013) Approach to the diagnosis and management of drug-induced immune thrombocytopenia. *Transfus Med Rev*, 27, 137-145.
- Aster, R.H. & Bougie, D.W. (2007) Drug-induced immune thrombocytopenia. *N Engl J Med*, **357**, 580-587.
- Aster, R.H., Curtis, B.R., McFarland, J.G. & Bougie, D.W. (2009) Drug-induced immune thrombocytopenia: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. *J Thromb Haemost*, **7**, 911-918.
- Autissier, P., Soulas, C., Burdo, T.H. & Williams, K.C. (2010) Evaluation of a 12-color flow cytometry panel to study lymphocyte, monocyte, and dendritic cell subsets in humans. *Cytometry A*, **77**, 410-419.
- Bacsi, S., De Palma, R., Visentin, G.P., Gorski, J. & Aster, R.H. (1999) Complexes of heparin and platelet factor 4 specifically stimulate T cells from patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia/thrombosis. *Blood*, **94**, 208-215.
- Baglin, T., Barrowcliffe, T.W., Cohen, A., Greaves, M. & British Committee for Standards in, H. (2006) Guidelines on the use and monitoring of heparin. *Br J Haematol*, **133**, 19-34.
- Bakchoul, T., Assfalg, V., Zollner, H., Evert, M., Novotny, A., Matevossian, E., Friess, H., Hartmann, D., Hron, G., Althaus, K., Greinacher, A. & Huser, N. (2014) Anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies in patients with impaired graft function after liver transplantation. *J Thromb Haemost*, **12**, 871-878.
- Bartal, I., Melamed, R., Greenfeld, K., Atzil, S., Glasner, A., Domankevich, V., Naor, R., Beilin, B., Yardeni, I.Z. & Ben-Eliyahu, S. (2010) Immune perturbations in patients along the perioperative period: alterations in cell surface markers and leukocyte subtypes before and after surgery. *Brain Behav Immun*, 24, 376-386.
- Bauer, T.L., Arepally, G., Konkle, B.A., Mestichelli, B., Shapiro, S.S., Cines, D.B., Poncz, M., McNulty, S., Amiral, J., Hauck, W.W., Edie, R.N. & Mannion, J.D. (1997) Prevalence of heparin-associated antibodies without thrombosis in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Circulation*, 95, 1242-1246.
- Bilato, C. & Crow, M.T. (1996) Atherosclerosis and the vascular biology of aging. *Aging* (*Milano*), **8**, 221-234.
- Bussel, J.B. (2009) Therapeutic approaches to secondary immune thrombocytopenic purpura. *Semin Hematol*, **46**, S44-58.

- Cai, Z., Yarovoi, S.V., Zhu, Z., Rauova, L., Hayes, V., Lebedeva, T., Liu, Q., Poncz, M., Arepally, G., Cines, D.B. & Greene, M.I. (2015) Atomic description of the immune complex involved in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun*, 6, 8277.
- Cella, G., Myers, C.J., Prosdocimi, M. & Sasahara, A.A. (1987) Human platelet factor 4 and protamine sulphate interaction with glycosaminoglycans in the rabbit. *Eur J Clin Invest*, **17**, 548-554.
- Cella, G., Vittadello, O., Gallucci, V. & Girolami, A. (1981) The release of betathromboglobulin and platelet factor 4 during extracorporeal circulation for open heart surgery. *Eur J Clin Invest*, **11**, 165-169.
- Chong, B.H. (2003) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. J Thromb Haemost, 1, 1471-1478.
- Chudasama, S.L., Espinasse, B., Hwang, F., Qi, R., Joglekar, M., Afonina, G., Wiesner, M.R., Welsby, I.J., Ortel, T.L. & Arepally, G.M. (2010) Heparin modifies the immunogenicity of positively charged proteins. *Blood*, **116**, 6046-6053.
- Clanchy, F.I., Holloway, A.C., Lari, R., Cameron, P.U. & Hamilton, J.A. (2006) Detection and properties of the human proliferative monocyte subpopulation. *J Leukoc Biol*, **79**, 757-766.
- Cuker, A. (2011) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) in 2011: an epidemic of overdiagnosis. *Thromb Haemost*, **106**, 993-994.
- Cuker, A., Arepally, G., Crowther, M.A., Rice, L., Datko, F., Hook, K., Propert, K.J., Kuter, D.J., Ortel, T.L., Konkle, B.A. & Cines, D.B. (2010) The HIT Expert Probability (HEP) Score: a novel pre-test probability model for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia based on broad expert opinion. *J Thromb Haemost*, 8, 2642-2650.
- Cuker, A., Gimotty, P.A., Crowther, M.A. & Warkentin, T.E. (2012) Predictive value of the 4Ts scoring system for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Blood*, **120**, 4160-4167.
- Cuker, A., Rauova, L., Bolgiano, D., Matthai, W.H., Jr., Poncz, M. & Konkle, B.A. (2014) Atherosclerosis is not a risk factor for anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibody formation after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Thromb Haemost*, **111**, 1191-1193.
- Cunningham, A.F., Flores-Langarica, A., Bobat, S., Dominguez Medina, C.C., Cook, C.N., Ross, E.A., Lopez-Macias, C. & Henderson, I.R. (2014) B1b cells recognize protective antigens after natural infection and vaccination. *Front Immunol*, **5**, 535.
- Curtis, B.R. (2014) Drug-induced immune thrombocytopenia: incidence, clinical features, laboratory testing, and pathogenic mechanisms. *Immunohematology*, **30**, 55-65.
- Defrance, T., Taillardet, M. & Genestier, L. (2011) T cell-independent B cell memory. *Curr Opin Immunol*, **23**, 330-336.
- Dudley, A., McKinstry, W., Thomas, D., Best, J. & Jenkins, A. (2003) Removal of endotoxin by reverse phase HPLC abolishes anti-endothelial cell activity of bacterially expressed plasminogen kringle 5. *Biotechniques*, **35**, 724-726, 728, 730 passim.
- Duggan, E., Caraher, E., Gately, K., O'Dwyer, M., McGovern, E., Kelleher, D., McManus, R. & Ryan, T. (2006) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-10 gene expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells after cardiac surgery. *Crit Care Med*, 34, 2134-2139.
- Duque, A. & Rakic, P. (2011) Different effects of bromodeoxyuridine and [3H]thymidine incorporation into DNA on cell proliferation, position, and fate. *J Neurosci*, **31**, 15205-15217.
- Dutt, T. & Schulz, M. (2013) Heparin-induced thrombocytopaenia (HIT)-an overview: what does the nephrologist need to know and do? *Clin Kidney J*, **6**, 563-567.

- Dybdahl, B. (2001) Inflammatory Response After Open Heart Surgery: Release of Heat-Shock Protein 70 and Signaling Through Toll-Like Receptor-4. *Circulation*, **105**, 685-690.
- Eichler, P., Raschke, R., Lubenow, N., Meyer, O., Schwind, P. & Greinacher, A. (2002) The new ID-heparin/PF4 antibody test for rapid detection of heparin-induced antibodies in comparison with functional and antigenic assays. *British Journal of Haematology*, **116**, 887-891.
- Fleischer, J., Grage-Griebenow, E., Kasper, B., Heine, H., Ernst, M., Brandt, E., Flad, H.D. & Petersen, F. (2002) Platelet Factor 4 Inhibits Proliferation and Cytokine Release of Activated Human T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, **169**, 770-777.
- Franchini, M. (2005) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: an update. Thromb J, 3, 14.
- Francis, J.L., Palmer, G.J., 3rd, Moroose, R. & Drexler, A. (2003) Comparison of bovine and porcine heparin in heparin antibody formation after cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg*, 75, 17-22.
- Franke, A., Lante, W., Kurig, E., Zoller, L.G., Weinhold, C. & Markewitz, A. (2006) Hyporesponsiveness of T cell subsets after cardiac surgery: a product of altered cell function or merely a result of absolute cell count changes in peripheral blood? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*, **30**, 64-71.
- Fricke, I., Mitchell, D., Petersen, F., Bohle, A., Bulfone-Paus, S. & Brandau, S. (2004) Platelet factor 4 in conjunction with IL-4 directs differentiation of human monocytes into specialized antigen-presenting cells. *FASEB J*, **18**, 1588-1590.
- Gasz, B., Lenard, L., Racz, B., Benko, L., Borsiczky, B., Cserepes, B., Gal, J., Jancso, G., Lantos, J., Ghosh, S., Szabados, S., Papp, L., Alotti, N. & Roth, E. (2006) Effect of cardiopulmonary bypass on cytokine network and myocardial cytokine production. *Clin Cardiol*, 29, 311-315.
- Ghoshal, K. & Bhattacharyya, M. (2014) Overview of platelet physiology: its hemostatic and nonhemostatic role in disease pathogenesis. *ScientificWorldJournal*, **2014**, 781857.
- Gluckman, T.J., Segal, J.B., Schulman, S.P., Shapiro, E.P., Kickler, T.S., Prechel, M.M., Conte, J.V., Walenga, J.M., Shafique, I. & Rade, J.J. (2009) Effect of anti-platelet factor-4/heparin antibody induction on early saphenous vein graft occlusion after coronary artery bypass surgery. *J Thromb Haemost*, 7, 1457-1464.
- Golebiewska, E.M. & Poole, A.W. (2015) Platelet secretion: From haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev*, **29**, 153-162.
- Goodwin, L.D. & Leech, N.L. (2006) Understanding Correlation: Factors That Affect the Size of r. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, **74**, 249-266.
- Greinacher, A., Alban, S., Omer-Adam, M.A., Weitschies, W. & Warkentin, T.E. (2008)
 Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a stoichiometry-based model to explain the differing immunogenicities of unfractionated heparin, low-molecular-weight heparin, and fondaparinux in different clinical settings. *Thromb Res*, **122**, 211-220.
- Greinacher, A., Eichler, P., Lubenow, N., Kwasny, H. & Luz, M. (2000) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with thromboembolic complications: meta-analysis of 2 prospective trials to assess the value of parenteral treatment with lepirudin and its therapeutic aPTT range. *Blood*, **96**, 846-851.
- Greinacher, A., Holtfreter, B., Krauel, K., Gatke, D., Weber, C., Ittermann, T., Hammerschmidt, S. & Kocher, T. (2011) Association of natural anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies with periodontal disease. *Blood*, **118**, 1395-1401.

- Greinacher, A., Kohlmann, T., Strobel, U., Sheppard, J.A. & Warkentin, T.E. (2009) The temporal profile of the anti-PF4/heparin immune response. *Blood*, **113**, 4970-4976.
- Greinacher, A. & Selleng, K. (2010) Thrombocytopenia in the intensive care unit patient. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*, **2010**, 135-143.
- Gruel, Y., Pouplard, C., Nguyen, P., Borg, J.Y., Derlon, A., Juhan-Vague, I., Regnault, V., Samama, M. & French Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia Study, G. (2003) Biological and clinical features of low-molecular-weight heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*, **121**, 786-792.
- Huang, S.S., Huang, J.S. & Deuel, T.F. (1982) Proteoglycan carrier of human platelet factor 4. Isolation and characterization. *J Biol Chem*, **257**, 11546-11550.
- Hughes, M., Hayward, C.P., Warkentin, T.E., Horsewood, P., Chorneyko, K.A. & Kelton, J.G. (2000) Morphological analysis of microparticle generation in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, 96, 188-194.
- Hui, P., Cook, D.J., Lim, W., Fraser, G.A. & Arnold, D.M. (2011) The frequency and clinical significance of thrombocytopenia complicating critical illness: a systematic review. *Chest*, 139, 271-278.
- Jaax, M.E., Krauel, K., Marschall, T., Brandt, S., Gansler, J., Furll, B., Appel, B., Fischer, S., Block, S., Helm, C.A., Muller, S., Preissner, K.T. & Greinacher, A. (2013) Complex formation with nucleic acids and aptamers alters the antigenic properties of platelet factor 4. *Blood*, **122**, 272-281.
- Jahnmatz, M., Kesa, G., Netterlid, E., Buisman, A.M., Thorstensson, R. & Ahlborg, N. (2013) Optimization of a human IgG B-cell ELISpot assay for the analysis of vaccine-induced B-cell responses. *J Immunol Methods*, **391**, 50-59.
- Joglekar, M., Khandelwal, S., Cines, D.B., Poncz, M., Rauova, L. & Arepally, G.M. (2015) Heparin enhances uptake of platelet factor 4/heparin complexes by monocytes and macrophages. *J Thromb Haemost*, 13, 1416-1427.
- Kaldjian, E.P., Chen, G.-H. & Cease, K.B. (1992) Enhancement of lymphocyte proliferation assays by use of serum-free medium. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, **147**, 189-195.
- Kasper, B. & Petersen, F. (2011) Molecular pathways of platelet factor 4/CXCL4 signaling. *Eur J Cell Biol*, **90**, 521-526.
- Kelton, J.G., Smith, J.W., Warkentin, T.E., Hayward, C.P., Denomme, G.A. & Horsewood, P. (1994) Immunoglobulin G from patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia binds to a complex of heparin and platelet factor 4. *Blood*, **83**, 3232-3239.
- Kelton, J.G. & Warkentin, T.E. (2008) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a historical perspective. *Blood*, **112**, 2607-2616.
- Kelton, J.G., Warkentin, T.E., Moore, J.C., Arnold, D.M., Nazi, I., Arepally, G.M., Roach, J.M. & Fier, I. (2012) A prospective study measuring the development of antibodies against platelet factor 4-heparin in healthy males after exposure to heparins. *J Thromb Haemost*, 10, 1446-1449.
- Khandelwal, S., Lee, G.M., Hester, C.G., Poncz, M., McKenzie, S., Sachais, B.S., Rauova, L., Kelsoe, G., Cines, D.B., Frank, M. & Arepally, G.M. (2016) The antigenic complex in HIT binds to B-cells via complement and complement receptor 2 (CD21). *Blood*.
- Konkle, B.A. (2011) Acquired disorders of platelet function. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*, **2011**, 391-396.
- Krauel, K., Potschke, C., Weber, C., Kessler, W., Furll, B., Ittermann, T., Maier, S., Hammerschmidt, S., Broker, B.M. & Greinacher, A. (2011) Platelet factor 4 binds to

bacteria, [corrected] inducing antibodies cross-reacting with the major antigen in heparininduced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, **117**, 1370-1378.

- Krauel, K., Schulze, A., Jouni, R., Hackbarth, C., Hietkamp, B., Selleng, S., Koster, A., Jensch, I., van der Linde, J., Schwertz, H., Bakchoul, T., Hundt, M. & Greinacher, A. (2016)
 Further insights into the anti-PF4/heparin IgM immune response. *Thromb Haemost*, 115, 752-761.
- Krauel, K., Weber, C., Brandt, S., Zahringer, U., Mamat, U., Greinacher, A. & Hammerschmidt, S. (2012) Platelet factor 4 binding to lipid A of Gram-negative bacteria exposes PF4/heparin-like epitopes. *Blood*, **120**, 3345-3352.
- LaMuraglia, G.M., Houbballah, R. & Laposata, M. (2012) The identification and management of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in the vascular patient. *J Vasc Surg*, **55**, 562-570.
- Lante, W., Franke, A., Weinhold, C. & Markewitz, A. (2005) Immunoglobulin levels and lymphocyte subsets following cardiac operations: further evidence for a T-helper cell shifting. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, **53**, 16-22.
- Lee, C.J. & Ansell, J.E. (2011) Direct thrombin inhibitors. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 72, 581-592.
- Leo, A. & Winteroll, S. (2003) Laboratory Diagnosis of Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia and Monitoring of Alternative Anticoagulants. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, **10**, 731-740.
- Levine, S.P., Lindenfeld, J., Ellis, J.B., Raymond, N.M. & Krentz, L.S. (1981) Increased plasma concentrations of platelet factor 4 in coronary artery disease: a measure of in vivo platelet activation and secretion. *Circulation*, **64**, 626-632.
- Levine, S.P. & Wohl, H. (1976) Human platelet factor 4: Purification and characterization by affinity chromatography. Purification of human platelet factor 4. *J Biol Chem*, **251**, 324-328.
- Levy, J.H. & Tanaka, K.A. (2003) Inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass. *Ann Thorac Surg*, **75**, S715-720.
- Litvinov, R.I., Yarovoi, S.V., Rauova, L., Barsegov, V., Sachais, B.S., Rux, A.H., Hinds, J.L., Arepally, G.M., Cines, D.B. & Weisel, J.W. (2013) Distinct specificity and singlemolecule kinetics characterize the interaction of pathogenic and non-pathogenic antibodies against platelet factor 4-heparin complexes with platelet factor 4. *J Biol Chem*, 288, 33060-33070.
- Liu, C.Y., Battaglia, M., Lee, S.H., Sun, Q.H., Aster, R.H. & Visentin, G.P. (2005) Platelet Factor 4 Differentially Modulates CD4+CD25+ (Regulatory) versus CD4+CD25-(Nonregulatory) T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, **174**, 2680-2686.
- Lo, G.K., Juhl, D., Warkentin, T.E., Sigouin, C.S., Eichler, P. & Greinacher, A. (2006) Evaluation of pretest clinical score (4 T's) for the diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in two clinical settings. *J Thromb Haemost*, **4**, 759-765.
- Lubenow, N., Hinz, P., Thomaschewski, S., Lietz, T., Vogler, M., Ladwig, A., Junger, M., Nauck, M., Schellong, S., Wander, K., Engel, G., Ekkernkamp, A. & Greinacher, A. (2010) The severity of trauma determines the immune response to PF4/heparin and the frequency of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, **115**, 1797-1803.
- Marler, J., Unzaga, J., Stelts, S. & Oliphant, C.S. (2015) Consequences of treating false positive heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, **40**, 512-514.
- Martel, N., Lee, J. & Wells, P.S. (2005) Risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with unfractionated and low-molecular-weight heparin thromboprophylaxis: a meta-analysis. *Blood*, **106**, 2710-2715.

- Matthai, W.H., Jr. & Cines, D.B. (2004) Towards a diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia after cardiopulmonary bypass. *J Thromb Haemost*, **2**, 1879-1881.
- Mayo, K.H., Ilyina, E., Roongta, V., Dundas, M., Joseph, J., Lai, C.K., Maione, T. & Daly, T.J. (1995) Heparin binding to platelet factor-4. An NMR and site-directed mutagenesis study: arginine residues are crucial for binding. *Biochem J*, **312** (**Pt 2**), 357-365.
- McFarland, J., Lochowicz, A., Aster, R., Chappell, B. & Curtis, B. (2012) Improving the specificity of the PF4 ELISA in diagnosing heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Am J Hematol*, **87**, 776-781.
- McGowan, K.E., Makari, J., Diamantouros, A., Bucci, C., Rempel, P., Selby, R. & Geerts, W. (2016) Reducing the hospital burden of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: impact of an avoid-heparin program. *Blood*, **127**, 1954-1959.
- Mead, T.J. & Lefebvre, V. (2014) Proliferation assays (BrdU and EdU) on skeletal tissue sections. *Methods Mol Biol*, **1130**, 233-243.
- Montecino-Rodriguez, E. & Dorshkind, K. (2012) B-1 B cell development in the fetus and adult. *Immunity*, **36**, 13-21.
- Natelson, E.A., Lynch, E.C., Alfrey, C.P., Jr. & Gross, J.B. (1969) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. An unexpected response to treatment of consumption coagulopathy. *Ann Intern Med*, **71**, 1121-1125.
- Nazi, I., Arnold, D.M., Moore, J.C., Smith, J.W., Ivetic, N., Horsewood, P., Warkentin, T.E. & Kelton, J.G. (2015a) Pitfalls in the diagnosis of heparin-Induced thrombocytopenia: A 6year experience from a reference laboratory. *Am J Hematol*, **90**, 629-633.
- Nazi, I., Arnold, D.M., Warkentin, T.E., Smith, J.W., Staibano, P. & Kelton, J.G. (2015b) Distinguishing between anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies that can and cannot cause heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*, **13**, 1900-1907.
- Nguyen, D.M., Mulder, D.S. & Shennib, H. (1992) Effect of cardiopulmonary bypass on circulating lymphocyte function. *Ann Thorac Surg*, **53**, 611-616.
- Oberweis, B.S., Cuff, G., Rosenberg, A., Pardo, L., Nardi, M.A., Guo, Y., Dweck, E., Marshall, M., Steiger, D., Stuchin, S. & Berger, J.S. (2014) Platelet aggregation and coagulation factors in orthopedic surgery. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, **38**, 430-438.
- Osterman, D.G.G., G.L.; Senior, R.M.; Kaiser, E.T.; Deuel, T.F. (1982) The carboxyl-terminal tridecapeptide of platelet factor 4 is a potent chemotactic agent for monocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **107**, 130–135.
- Padmanabhan, A., Jones, C.G., Bougie, D.W., Curtis, B.R., McFarland, J.G., Wang, D. & Aster, R.H. (2015) A modified PF4-dependent, CD62p expression assay selectively detects serotonin-releasing antibodies in patients suspected of HIT. *Thromb Haemost*, **114**, 1322-1323.
- Patel, S.R., Hartwig, J.H. & Italiano, J.E., Jr. (2005) The biogenesis of platelets from megakaryocyte proplatelets. *J Clin Invest*, **115**, 3348-3354.
- Pitsilos, S., Hunt, J., Mohler, E.R., Prabhakar, A.M., Poncz, M., Dawicki, J., Khalapyan, T.Z., Wolfe, M.L., Fairman, R., Mitchell, M., Carpenter, J., Golden, M.A., Cines, D.B. & Sachais, B.S. (2003) Platelet factor 4 localization in carotid atherosclerotic plaques: correlation with clinical parameters. *Thromb Haemost*, **90**, 1112-1120.
- Potschke (2000) Use of Heparin during Cardiopulmonary Bypass in Patients with a History of Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. *New England Journal of Medicine*.

- Potschke, C., Selleng, S., Broker, B.M. & Greinacher, A. (2012) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: further evidence for a unique immune response. *Blood*, **120**, 4238-4245.
- Pouplard, C., May, M.A., Iochmann, S., Amiral, J., Vissac, A.M., Marchand, M. & Gruel, Y. (1999) Antibodies to platelet factor 4-heparin after cardiopulmonary bypass in patients anticoagulated with unfractionated heparin or a low-molecular-weight heparin : clinical implications for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Circulation*, **99**, 2530-2536.
- Pouplard, C., May, M.A., Regina, S., Marchand, M., Fusciardi, J. & Gruel, Y. (2005) Changes in platelet count after cardiac surgery can effectively predict the development of pathogenic heparin-dependent antibodies. *Br J Haematol*, **128**, 837-841.
- Prechel, M.M. & Walenga, J.M. (2013) Emphasis on the Role of PF4 in the Incidence, Pathophysiology and Treatment of Heparin Induced Thrombocytopenia. *Thromb J*, **11**, 7.
- Prechel, M.M. & Walenga, J.M. (2015) Complexes of platelet factor 4 and heparin activate Tolllike receptor 4. *J Thromb Haemost*, **13**, 665-670.
- Quah, B.J., Warren, H.S. & Parish, C.R. (2007) Monitoring lymphocyte proliferation in vitro and in vivo with the intracellular fluorescent dye carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester. *Nat Protoc*, 2, 2049-2056.
- Rauova, L., Hirsch, J.D., Greene, T.K., Zhai, L., Hayes, V.M., Kowalska, M.A., Cines, D.B. & Poncz, M. (2010) Monocyte-bound PF4 in the pathogenesis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, **116**, 5021-5031.
- Rauova, L., Poncz, M., McKenzie, S.E., Reilly, M.P., Arepally, G., Weisel, J.W., Nagaswami, C., Cines, D.B. & Sachais, B.S. (2005) Ultralarge complexes of PF4 and heparin are central to the pathogenesis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, 105, 131-138.
- Rauova, L., Zhai, L., Kowalska, M.A., Arepally, G.M., Cines, D.B. & Poncz, M. (2006) Role of platelet surface PF4 antigenic complexes in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia pathogenesis: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *Blood*, **107**, 2346-2353.
- Riess, F.C. (2005) Anticoagulation management and cardiac surgery in patients with heparininduced thrombocytopenia. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, **17**, 85-96.
- Rinder, C.S., Bohnert, J., Rinder, H.M., Mitchell, J., Ault, K. & Hillman, R. (1991) Platelet activation and aggregation during cardiopulmonary bypass. *Anesthesiology*, **75**, 388-393.
- Rinder, C.S., Mathew, J.P., Rinder, H.M., Tracey, J.B., Davis, E. & Smith, B.R. (1997) Lymphocyte and monocyte subset changes during cardiopulmonary bypass: effects of aging and gender. *J Lab Clin Med*, **129**, 592-602.
- Rollin, J., Pouplard, C., Sung, H.C., Leroux, D., Saada, A., Gouilleux-Gruart, V., Thibault, G. & Gruel, Y. (2015) Increased risk of thrombosis in FcgammaRIIA 131RR patients with HIT due to defective control of platelet activation by plasma IgG2. *Blood*, **125**, 2397-2404.
- Rondina, M.T. & Garraud, O. (2014) Emerging evidence for platelets as immune and inflammatory effector cells. *Front Immunol*, **5**, 653.
- Sachais, B.S., Turrentine, T., Dawicki McKenna, J.M., Rux, A.H., Rader, D. & Anna Kowalska, M. (2007) Elimination of platelet factor 4 (PF4) from platelets reduces atherosclerosis in C57Bl/6 and apoE-/-mice. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*.
- Sajwani, F. & Al Tunaiji, H. (2014) Demographic and clinical analysis on hospitalized patients with thrombocytopenia. *Journal of Applied Hematology*, **5**, 58.
- Salo, M., Makela, M.J., Perttila, J. & Ilonen, J. (1997) Enhanced spontaneous antibody response after coronary artery bypass surgery. *Can J Anaesth*, **44**, 617-622.

- Schell, A.M., Petras, M., Szczepiorkowski, Z.M. & Ornstein, D.L. (2013) Refractory heparin induced thrombocytopenia with thrombosis (HITT) treated with therapeutic plasma exchange and rituximab as adjuvant therapy. *Transfus Apher Sci*, **49**, 185-188.
- Scheuerer (2000) The CXC-chemokine platelet factor 4 promotes monocyte survival and induces monocyte differentiation into macrophages. *Blood*, **95**, 1158–1166.
- Schowalter, R.M., Pastrana, D.V. & Buck, C.B. (2011) Glycosaminoglycans and sialylated glycans sequentially facilitate Merkel cell polyomavirus infectious entry. *PLoS Pathog*, 7, e1002161.
- Schulze, A., Jensch, I., Krauel, K., Alahmad, A., Muller, H.P., Greinacher, A. & Hundt, M. (2014) New insights in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia by the use of fluid-phase assays to detect specifically platelet factor 4/heparin complex antibodies and antibodysecreting cells. *Thromb Res*, **134**, 174-181.
- Segerstrom, S.C. & Miller, G.E. (2004) Psychological stress and the human immune system: a meta-analytic study of 30 years of inquiry. *Psychol Bull*, **130**, 601-630.
- Seigerman, M., Cavallaro, P., Itagaki, S., Chung, I. & Chikwe, J. (2014) Incidence and outcomes of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in patients undergoing cardiac surgery in North America: an analysis of the nationwide inpatient sample. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth*, 28, 98-102.
- Sekhon, S.S. & Roy, V. (2006) Thrombocytopenia in adults: A practical approach to evaluation and management. *South Med J*, **99**, 491-498; quiz 499-500, 533.
- Selleng, K., Schutt, A., Selleng, S., Warkentin, T.E. & Greinacher, A. (2010a) Studies of the anti-platelet factor 4/heparin immune response: adapting the enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay for detection of memory B cells against complex antigens. *Transfusion*, **50**, 32-39.
- Selleng, S., Malowsky, B., Itterman, T., Bagemuhl, J., Wessel, A., Wollert, H.G., Warkentin, T.E. & Greinacher, A. (2010b) Incidence and clinical relevance of anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies before cardiac surgery. *Am Heart J*, **160**, 362-369.
- Selleng, S., Malowsky, B., Strobel, U., Wessel, A., Ittermann, T., Wollert, H.G., Warkentin, T.E. & Greinacher, A. (2010c) Early-onset and persisting thrombocytopenia in post-cardiac surgery patients is rarely due to heparin-induced thrombocytopenia, even when antibody tests are positive. *J Thromb Haemost*, **8**, 30-36.
- Senay, S., Toraman, F., Akgun, Y., Aydin, E., Karabulut, H., Alhan, C. & Sarioglu, T. (2011) Stroke after coronary bypass surgery is mainly related to diffuse atherosclerotic disease. *Heart Surg Forum*, 14, E366-372.
- Sidman, R.L., Miale, I.L. & Feder, N. (1959) Cell proliferation and migration in the primitive ependymal zone: an autoradiographic study of histogenesis in the nervous system. *Exp Neurol*, **1**, 322-333.
- Suvarna, S., Espinasse, B., Qi, R., Lubica, R., Poncz, M., Cines, D.B., Wiesner, M.R. & Arepally, G.M. (2007) Determinants of PF4/heparin immunogenicity. *Blood*, **110**, 4253-4260.
- Suvarna, S., Rauova, L., McCracken, E.K., Goss, C.M., Sachais, B.S., McKenzie, S.E., Reilly, M.P., Gunn, M.D., Cines, D.B., Poncz, M. & Arepally, G. (2005) PF4/heparin complexes are T cell-dependent antigens. *Blood*, **106**, 929-931.
- Trossaert, M., Gaillard, A., Commin, P.L., Amiral, J., Vissac, A.-M. & Fressinaud, E. (1998) High incidence of anti-heparin/platelet factor 4 antibodies after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *British Journal of Haematology*, **101**, 653-655.

- van den Bemt, P.M.L.A., Meyboom, R.H.B. & Egberts, A.C.G. (2004) Drug-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia. *Drug Safety*, **27**, 1243-1252.
- van Furth, R., Raeburn, J.A. & van Zwet, T.L. (1979) Characteristics of human mononuclear phagocytes. *Blood*, **54**, 485-500.
- Visentin, G.P., Malik, M., Cyganiak, K.A. & Aster, R.H. (1996) Patients treated with unfractionated heparin during open heart surgery are at high risk to form antibodies reactive with heparin:platelet factor 4 complexes. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, **128**, 376-383.
- Walenga, J.M., Jeske, W.P., Prechel, M.M., Bacher, P. & Bakhos, M. (2004) Decreased prevalence of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia with low-molecular-weight heparin and related drugs. *Semin Thromb Hemost*, **30 Suppl 1**, 69-80.
- Wallis, D.E., Workman, D.L., Lewis, B.E., Steen, L., Pifarre, R. & Moran, J.F. (1999) Failure of early heparin cessation as treatment for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *The American Journal of Medicine*, **106**, 629-635.
- Wang, W.S., S.K.; Li, N.; Toler, M.R.; King, K.R.; Nema, S. (2012) Immunogenicity of protein aggregates—Concerns and realities. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, **431**, 1–11.
- Warkentin, T.E. (2011a) Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in critically ill patients. *Crit Care Clin*, **27**, 805-823, v.
- Warkentin, T.E. (2011b) HIT paradigms and paradoxes. J Thromb Haemost, 9 Suppl 1, 105-117.
- Warkentin, T.E., Arnold, D.M., Nazi, I. & Kelton, J.G. (2015) The platelet serotonin-release assay. *Am J Hematol*, **90**, 564-572.
- Warkentin, T.E., Basciano, P.A., Knopman, J. & Bernstein, R.A. (2014) Spontaneous heparininduced thrombocytopenia syndrome: 2 new cases and a proposal for defining this disorder. *Blood*, **123**, 3651-3654.
- Warkentin, T.E., Cook, R.J., Marder, V.J. & Greinacher, A. (2010) Anti-PF4/heparin antibody formation postorthopedic surgery thromboprophylaxis: the role of non-drug risk factors and evidence for a stoichiometry-based model of immunization. *J Thromb Haemost*, 8, 504-512.
- Warkentin, T.E. & Eikelboom, J.W. (2007) Who is (still) getting HIT? CHEST, 131, 1620-1622.
- Warkentin, T.E., Greinacher, A., Koster, A., Lincoff, A.M. & American College of Chest, P. (2008) Treatment and prevention of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *CHEST*, 133, 340S-380S.
- Warkentin, T.E., Hayward, C.P., Boshkov, L.K., Santos, A.V., Sheppard, J.A., Bode, A.P. & Kelton, J.G. (1994) Sera from patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia generate platelet-derived microparticles with procoagulant activity: an explanation for the thrombotic complications of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, 84, 3691-3699.
- Warkentin, T.E. & Kelton, J.G. (2001) Temporal aspects of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *N Engl J Med*, **344**, 1286-1292.
- Warkentin, T.E. & Sheppard, J.A. (2014) Serological investigation of patients with a previous history of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia who are reexposed to heparin. *Blood*, **123**, 2485-2493.
- Warkentin, T.E., Sheppard, J.A., Horsewood, P., Simpson, P.J., Moore, J.C. & Kelton, J.G. (2000) Impact of the patient population on the risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, 96, 1703-1708.

- Warkentin, T.E., Sheppard, J.A., Moore, J.C., Cook, R.J. & Kelton, J.G. (2009) Studies of the immune response in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, **113**, 4963-4969.
- Warkentin, T.E., Sheppard, J.I., Sun, J.C., Jung, H. & Eikelboom, J.W. (2013) Anti-PF4/heparin antibodies and venous graft occlusion in postcoronary artery bypass surgery patients randomized to postoperative unfractionated heparin or fondaparinux thromboprophylaxis. *J Thromb Haemost*, 11, 253-260.
- Watson, H., Davidson, S., Keeling, D., Haemostasis & Thrombosis Task Force of the British Committee for Standards in, H. (2012) Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: second edition. *Br J Haematol*, **159**, 528-540.
- Weerasinghe, A. & Taylor, K.M. (1998) The platelet in cardiopulmonary bypass. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*, **66**, 2145-2152.
- Weller, S., Braun, M.C., Tan, B.K., Rosenwald, A., Cordier, C., Conley, M.E., Plebani, A., Kumararatne, D.S., Bonnet, D., Tournilhac, O., Tchernia, G., Steiniger, B., Staudt, L.M., Casanova, J.L., Reynaud, C.A. & Weill, J.C. (2004) Human blood IgM "memory" B cells are circulating splenic marginal zone B cells harboring a prediversified immunoglobulin repertoire. *Blood*, **104**, 3647-3654.
- Whitlock, R.P., Devereaux, P.J., Teoh, K.H., Lamy, A., Vincent, J., Pogue, J., Paparella, D.,
 Sessler, D.I., Karthikeyan, G., Villar, J.C., Zuo, Y., Avezum, Á., Quantz, M., Tagarakis,
 G.I., Shah, P.J., Abbasi, S.H., Zheng, H., Pettit, S., Chrolavicius, S. & Yusuf, S. (2015)
 Methylprednisolone in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass (SIRS): a
 randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, **386**, 1243-1253.
- Xia, C.Q. & Kao, K.J. (2003) Effect of CXC chemokine platelet factor 4 on differentiation and function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Int Immunol*, **15**, 1007-1015.
- Yanasarn, N., Sloat, B.R. & Cui, Z. (2011) Negatively charged liposomes show potent adjuvant activity when simply admixed with protein antigens. *Mol Pharm*, **8**, 1174-1185.
- Yeaman, M.R. (2014) Platelets: at the nexus of antimicrobial defence. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, **12**, 426-437.
- Zheng, Y., Wang, A.W., Yu, M., Padmanabhan, A., Tourdot, B.E., Newman, D.K., White, G.C., Aster, R.H., Wen, R. & Wang, D. (2014) B-cell tolerance regulates production of antibodies causing heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*, **123**, 931-934.
- Zheng, Y., Yu, M., Padmanabhan, A., Aster, R.H., Yuan, L., Wen, R. & Wang, D. (2015) Critical role of CD4 T cells in PF4/heparin antibody production in mice. *Blood*, **125**, 1826-1829.
- Zheng, Y., Yu, M., Podd, A., Yuan, L., Newman, D.K., Wen, R., Arepally, G. & Wang, D. (2013) Critical role for mouse marginal zone B cells in PF4/heparin antibody production. *Blood*, **121**, 3484-3492.
- Zucker, M.B. & Katz, I.R. (1991) Platelet factor 4: production, structure, and physiologic and immunologic action. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, **198**, 693-702.